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Our 
manifest
We believe in investing.
Investing in enterprising people.
Because they can make the difference.
The difference between despair and optimism.
Between mere survival and creating something new. 
Between grinding poverty and a dignified life.

Let’s partner with these people.
Stimulate their entrepreneurial spirit.
Invest in their dreams.
So that they reach their personal best.
And proudly give their community a solid future.

We are ICCO Cooperation.
We empower entrepreneurial people. 
And connect them with businesses, governments and civil society.
Together we turn ambitions into reality.
And if needed, we take it upon ourselves to implement.
Because if you believe in something, you don’t just watch.
You make it progress.

ICCO Cooperation
Partner to enterprising people.
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Cover photo: 

The Bolivian company COBOCE and ICCO have formulated the program “Generating entrepreneurship with values“. 

200 women from the communities that work for COBOCE were trained on bakery, deserts, gastronomy and weaving.

Photo: Eline van Nes
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This annual report gives account of the work of ICCO Foundation in 2016. Besides this report we have also 

publicized the consolidated Annual Report and Accounts 2016 of Coöperatie ICCO U.A. This report includes 

the results of ICCO Foundation and ICCO Group B.V. 
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Highlights 
2016

From our core 
principles 

Empowered people that build sustainable 

livelihoods within a society that upholds their 

rights. We focus on small scale farmers and 

agribusiness linking them to markets.

In 2016 our 101 projects contributed to 

‘Securing sustainable livelihoods’ and  

‘Justice and dignity for all’

we aim for

more prosperous 
livelihoods

of 350,000 people in 50 countries.

The ICCO Foundation and the ICCO Group 

B.V. work together under the brand ICCO 

Cooperation. The ICCO Goup B.V. consists of: 

- ICCO Investments 

- Agribusiness Booster

- iMPACT Booster

- FairClimateFund

- Fair & Sustainable Advisory Services

Organization

6

338

20
regional offices

staff

country offices

Finances

  Food Security 
and Sustainable 
Consumption 
€ 8.5 million

  Economic 
Empowerment 
 € 10.2 million

  Responsible 
Business 
€ 4.3 million

  Emergency 
Response 
€ 6.9 million

  Other themes 
€ 5.7 million

EXPENDITURE
€ 35.6 million was spent on our objectives:

INCOME
Total income € 42.2 million

  Dutch government 
€ 19.2 million

  European Union 
€ 0.6 million

  Third parties 
€ 20.5 million

  Other income 
€ 1.5 million

  Investments income 
€ 0.3 million

  Own fundraising 
€ 0.1 million

  Africa 
€ 11 million

  Asia 
€ 7.7 million

  Latin America 
€ 5.2 million

  Middle East 
€ 1.4 million

  ICCO Group 
€ 2.7 million

  Global 
€ 7.6 million

MAIN FUNDERS:
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13,285 farmers
were trained

84,405 people
increased their income

69,985 farms
increased their productivity 
and profitability

12 companies
have international certification

5,716 youth
benefited from skills training by 
private sector

231,855 households
improved their food security

273,802 women
improved their dietary diversity

Our impact

Economic Empowerment

Responsible Business

Food Security and Sustainable Consumption

Emergency Response

investments in in total Total investment portfolio

new companies companies

24 50 € 23.1 million
ICCO is a climate 

neutral organization. 

We offset our carbon 

footprint with fair trade 

Gold Standards credits 

of FairClimateFund.

46,658 households
with improved food security

11,941 people
with improved housing conditions

22,427 people
with improved sanitation facilities
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R
ecently we paid a visit to Mali where ICCO runs 
a project to strengthen the fish and onion value 
chains. Mamadou Coulibaly, who supervises a test 
site for seeds and fertilizers, spoke passionately 

about the impact he expects the project to make for the 
local and national economy. “Not only could it lead to less 
imports, we are creating more jobs and income for the farm-
ers and their families,” he stated proudly. It was inspiring to 
meet this young man and see how ICCO can make it happen.    

The two key principles in ICCO’s work are securing liveli-
hoods and justice. To achieve meaningful results, there is 
need to engage in partnerships with a broad range of actors, 
including the private sector, academia and governments. 
With our thematic focus on economic empowerment, food 
security and responsible business in agribusiness value 
chains, we seek to ensure that private companies, entre-
preneurs and business startups play their part in building 
a more inclusive society. One of the ways we do this is 
promoting a wide range of innovative financial instruments 
that stimulate businesses to invest in enterprising people. 
Two examples of such instruments are ICCO’s  Agribusiness 
Booster and ICCO Investments.

ICCO’s experience shows that when the interests of all 
actors in the value chain are taken into account, trade can be 
“development relevant.” Take Mali again. The Netherlands 
is a big exporter of onions to West Africa. But Mali can only 
take charge of its own development if, to paraphrase an old 
adage, it can grow its own onions. This requires a range 
of inputs and capacity development support, such as high 
quality seeds and climate-smart production techniques, 
which Dutch companies already have. With the right kind of 
policy support, Dutch expertise can be channeled to helping 
Mali invest in its future and create job opportunities for 
young people, who might otherwise be forced to migrate 
in search of a better life. This is the kind of “aid and trade” 
practice that the government of the Netherlands aims to 
increasingly support. In other words, it is neither in the 
interest of Dutch taxpayers nor Malian farmers, if Dutch 
institutional grants are only used to increase Dutch exports. 

Anno 2016, ICCO’s income base is much more diversified 
and we have moved from being a primarily financing organ-
ization to a co-implementing and co-investing organization. 
While our gross turnover has decreased over the past few 
years, the activity level of the organization has not. We now 

run even more projects ourselves, capitalizing on our local 
presence and the coordination efforts of our regional offices. 
Our turnover in 2016 was EUR 42.2 million and the busi-
ness portfolio currently stands at EUR 23.1 million. Next to
that we have created impact through working in partner-
ships for the value of EUR 10 million.

Our ambitions remain high. We want to consolidate our 
expertise in catalyzing public-private partnerships that 
truly make a difference. We also continue to specialize and 
define our niche in the international development sector, 
building on our creative and flexible team members around 
the world. We are proud to see this happening and we know 
that we are on the right track. And yet a lot has to be done. 
When we started with the project ‘Future Proofing ICCO’ in 
2015 we anticipated that 2016 and 2017 were going to be 
years of transition. A key goal during this period is to create 
a sounder financial base. That is our work in progress. We 
trust that we will succeed, together with our partners and 
donors in the Netherlands, the United States, Canada and 
many other countries. 

Cooperation increases impact and enlarges the number of 
people you can support. We need other actors to get on board 
so that together we can create a multiplier effect. To anyone 
who has social and economic aspirations to make the world a 
bit better: think of ICCO. We’re making it happen.

Utrecht, October 2016

Executive Board
M. Verweij, chairman

W.D. Hart, member

“We’re making it happen”
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01 Mission and 
strategy

Abdullah Al Mamun harvests snake gourds 

on Majahr Char in Bangladesh. He is a farm 

business advisor, trained by PROOFS. 
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AGENT FOR SOCIAL CHANGE

In 2016, ICCO’s cooperative structure was radically reorgan-
ized. Members of the the ICCO cooperative stepped out and 
established a new cooperative, named PerspActive (see BOX). 
ICCO now operates as a standalone organization and joined 
PerspActive as a member.

In line with this organizational restructuring, ICCO’s 
multi-annual strategic plan (MASP), ‘Strategy 2020: 
Towards a Just and Dignified World’ (2013), was comple-
mented by the vision document, ‘Future Proofing ICCO’ in 
2015. Both strategic plans acknowledge the interconnected-
ness of two core principles in our vision of change: ‘Securing 
Sustainable Livelihoods’ and ‘Justice and Dignity for All.’ We 
believe that sustainable economic development cannot be 
realized unless complementary efforts are taken to ensure 
that such development is equitable and inclusive. 

Entrepreneurial organization
Our organizational framework places our non-profit (ICCO 
Foundation) and commercial entities (ICCO Group B.V.) 
under one umbrella, with a shared purpose (see figure 1). 
Through the synergies created across our market- oriented 
products and services, as well as in our development 
support programs, we can deliver a range of interventions 
suited to different contexts. This “blending” approach 
creates a unique opportunity for ICCO to engage with 
diverse development partners and donors. 

Through our blended services and products, we can offer 
synergies in two ways. First, we can improve or scale up our 
agri-food or value chain programs, by leveraging support 
from companies of the ICCO Group B.V. in the form of attrac-

tive instruments, such as loans, equity investments, micro-
finance and business development services. Second, we are 
able to explore “reversed graduation” strategies, in which 
ICCO companies invest in, or develop shared enterprises 
with private companies to serve the needs of excluded or 
marginalized groups, who are the main focus of ICCO’s 
programs.

New strategic framework
We believe development projects and business cases should 
be designed and monitored close to the ground, in collabo-
ration with the communities and businesses that we serve. 
Our decentralized organization with six regional offices and 
.. country offices is therefore an important asset. In 2016 we 
decided to assign the responsibility for the regional strategy 
and corresponding budget to the regional offices, under the 

Mission and 
strategy
ICCO believes in a society without poverty, and where all people have equitable access to economic 
opportunities and justice. This presents huge challenges in a world where the population is projected 
to nine billion in 2050, and the livelihoods of an estimated two billion people in Asia, Latin America 
and Sub-Saharan Africa are dependent on small-scale farming and agricultural labor. Against this 
backdrop, ICCO works to empower small-scale farmers and agribusinesses and link them to markets, 
with the objective of securing sustainable livelihoods for hundreds of thousands of poor and 
marginalized people.   

PerspActive

On 31 October 2016 members of the former 

ICCO cooperative launched a new cooperative, 

PerspActive. The aim is to put young people at 

the heart of programs and campaigns to create 

sustainability, employability and working skills  

in Africa amid major changes such as rapid 

 population growth, urbanization and climate 

change. PerspActive is made up of: Edukans,  

ICCO, Leprazending, Light for the World, Help 

a Child, The Salvation Army International 

Development Services, TEAR, Wilde Ganzen and 

Woord en Daad. 
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oversight of the Executive Board, and in coherence with the 
MASP 2020 strategic framework and our corporate policies 
and processes.

ICCO’s new strategic framework also entailed a major tran-
sition from being a predominantly grant-making organiza-
tion towards:
• (Co-)implementing programs funded by a range of insti-

tutional donors
• Providing services on demand from third parties 
• Seeking close cooperation together with our European 

ACT Alliance partners

This transition required a change in staff and competen-
cies from 2016 onwards. Entrepreneurial and innovative 
mindsets, as well as strong project management and acqui-

sition skills, are critical in delivering such multifaceted 
programs. As such, these competencies were at the center 
of our recruitment and staff development efforts in 2016. 
Other core expertise areas include access to finance, market 
system development and enterprise development. Programs 
outside the scope of our priority themes were gradually 
phased out. To build more volume per country, we will 
continue to look critically at our added value in the coun-
tries where we currently work.

THEORY OF CHANGE

Based on our two core principles we revised and opera-
tionalized our strategic objectives and adapted our theory 
of change (see figure 2, page 11) towards 2020. The theory 
of change provides a roadmap towards achieving ICCO’s 
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IMPACT BOOSTER

$

ICCO’s support is primarily targeted at associations of smallholder producers 

and small business enterprises. Using our technical and market expertise, we 

create tailor-made services and programs in partnership with governments, 

private companies, civil society organizations and knowledge institutions. In 

order to achieve our objectives, ICCO takes on diverse roles, including that of 

co-implementer, project manager and designer, co-investor or lobbyist.

1  Disaster risk management

2  Project design and implementation

3  Public-private partnerships

4  Microcredit 7   Impact 
investments

5  Co-entrepreneurship 8   Climate 
neutrality

6   Accelerating 
entrepreneurs

9   Advisory 
services

Figure 1: ICCO’s expertise and products
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Resources

Capacity 
Staff projects: 273 FTE

Knowledge leaders: 6 FTE

Staff companies: 22 FTE

Support: 19 FTE

Management: 18 FTE

Finances
Income: EUR 42.2 million

Investments:  EUR 21.6 million

Partnerships: EUR 10 million

Sources: Institutional donors, 

private donors, companies, inves-

tors and governments

External capacity
ICCO cooperates with 52 

governments, 200 companies, 41 

knowledge centers, 91 networks, 

and 351  non-governmental and 

civil society organizations in 50 

countries

Knowledge
Technical guidelines for priority 

themes developed. Knowledge 

leaders appointed and knowledge 

partnerships established. 

Approach

Mission
We work to build a world without 

poverty and injustice. To achieve 

this we help people in poor and 

emerging countries to become 

self-reliant, so they can contrib-

ute to the prosperity of their 

communities. 

Core values
• Compassion

• Justice

• Stewardship

• Innovation

• Entrepreneurship

• Focus on results

Development principles
• Multi-actor and multi-sectoral 

approach

• Local ownership

• Sustainability

• Gender balance

• Blending grants and investments

• Evidence based monitoring

Strategy
• Strengthening people’s resil-

ience to disasters

• Claiming rights through lobby 

and advocacy for farmers

• Contributing to a favorable 

political and social environment

• Supporting farmer 

organizations

• Facilitating the growth of inclu-

sive value chains

• Accelerating the development 

of small- and medium-sized 

enterprises (SMEs) 

• Scaling up viable businesses

Core activity
• (Co-) implementing multi- 

stakeholder and multi-sectoral 

programs

• Building public-private 

partnerships

• Supporting and investing in 

farmer organizations and SMEs

• Providing technical advisory 

services on agri-food value 

chains 

• Influencing	policy	

Objective 

• Create resilient and sustainable 

 agri-food systems 

• Realize inclusive value chain 

development 

• Integrate human rights in value 

chains 

• Build resilient, disaster- 

prepared communities and 

businesses 

in order to

Empower people, especially 

smallholder farmers with a focus 

on women and youth, so they can 

build sustainable livelihoods within 

a society that upholds their rights.

Value created in 2016

Food Security and 
Sustainable Consumption 
250,000 households have access 

to and control over resilient food 

systems 

Economic Empowerment
100,000 smallholders are 

 economically empowered and 

have access to and participate in 

markets

Responsible Business 
12 companies introduced 

 measures to protect human rights 

in their supply chain

Emergency Response
25,000 families take measures to 

improve their disaster prepared-

ness and resilience

Value Creation Model

overall impact: Empowered people that build sustainable 
livelihoods within a society that upholds their rights. It 
is broken down into four distinct, but interconnected 
change pathways or long-term objectives: Food Security 
and Sustainable Consumption; Economic Empowerment; 
Responsible Business; and Emergency Response. We also 
focus on Gender and Marginalized Groups as cross-cutting 
themes. 

Figure 2 illustrates key elements within each pathway, as 
well as the interconnections across them. The complexity 
and diversity of the different contexts in which we work, 
means that we need to constantly test our assumptions and 
adapt our interventions.
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1. Food Security and Sustainable 
Consumption 
This pathway aims for a future in which men, 

women and youth have access to and control over resil-
ient and sustainable food systems. Our starting point is to 
strengthen the capacities of individual households to produce 
sufficient food, while also earning an income from farming. 
Linked to this, we build the capacity of producer organiza-
tions and other associations so they can support poor house-
holds to improve and diversify their production, and have 
better access to markets, financial services and other inputs. 
We also contribute to awareness raising and advocacy around 
the Right to Food, aimed at promoting healthy and sustaina-
ble food and nutrition practices for all household members. 

Assumptions:

• Households and communities understand and accept the 
importance of a gender-balanced approach in achieving 
food and nutrition security 

• Rural households are able to make informed food and 
nutrition choices 

• There is convergence between the realization of the 
Right to Food and stimulation of the economic position of 
smallholder producers

Contributes to SDGs: 1, 2, 8, 12, 13, 15 and 17.

2. Economic Empowerment
The objective of this change pathway is to support 
poor farmers and producer organizations to seize 

economic opportunities to improve and sustain farmers’  live-
lihood, without jeopardizing food and nutrition security. The 
‘Making Markets Work for the Poor’ (M4P) approach is used 
to facilitate access to productive and marketing resources and 
achieve more value from agricultural production. Capacity 
development helps to enhance farmers’ technical and busi-
ness skills, hence improving productivity as well as the qual-
ity of agricultural products and enabling farmers to become 
better positioned within value chains. This is reinforced by 
a strengthened advocacy capacity of civil society actors to 
represent the interests of farmers, traders, laborers, and 
consumers. Lobby and advocacy for an enabling environment 
further supports the M4P approach.

Assumptions: 

• Sufficient and capable producer organizations leads to 
empowerment of the targeted farmers both in terms of 
increased income and their autonomy within markets

• The M4P approach contributes to the realization of food 
and nutrition security 

• The M4P approach ensures that poor producers will be 
able to increase access to and control over resources in a 
sustainable way

Contributes to SDGs: 1, 2, 5, 10, 12 and 17.

3. Responsible Business 
When companies create social value and respect 
human rights in their entire value chain this 

contributes to economic development. The objective of this 
change pathway is contribute towards more inclusive value 
chains and a rise in private sector actors who sustainably 
contribute to social impact. Focusing primarily on SMEs, a 
first step is creating awareness that investing in the wellbeing 
of their employees and suppliers will help to maintain prof-
its in the future. We also encourage SMEs to respect human 
rights principles (“do no harm”) and to incorporate social 
impact in their business strategies and practices. This helps 
to enlarge opportunities for poor farmers to participate in 
markets and strengthens the overall enabling environment 
for realizing increased income and a sustainable livelihood 
from farming.  

OVERALL STRATEGIC TARGET
By 2020 950,000 men, women and youth have been 

reached.

Total reached in 2016: 350,000  on track

OUR TARGET
By 2020, 500,000 households have access to and 

control over resilient food systems, enabling them to 

realize their food and nutrition security 

Total reached in 2016: 250,000   on track

OUR TARGET
By 2020, 450,000 farmers are economically empowered 

and have access to and participate in markets

Total reached in 2016: 100,000   on track

Figure 2: Theory of change
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Assumptions: 

• Private sector actors are responsive to human rights
• Private sector actors understand that creating social value 

and making profit leads to sustainability of their businesses 
• Sharing knowledge with, and lobby and advocacy actions 

directed at the private sector, stimulates the creation of 
social value 

Contributes to SDGs: 8, 9, 10, 12, 13 and 17.

4. Emergency Response 
The objective of this pathway is to create resilient 
communities that are adequately prepared for, 

and can effectively respond to disasters. ICCO is well aware 
that people’s economic and social investments (realized 
through the first three pathways) can be easily undermined 
or even wiped away by external threats, including climate 
change, disasters or conflict. For this reason ICCO pays 
particular attention to integrating disaster risk reduction 
and resilience strategies in its food security, market devel-
opment and humanitarian programs, at both the commu-
nity and business levels. Ongoing investments in skills and 
capacities are essential for empowering communities in the 
long term. Effective partnerships with local organizations, 
institutions and businesses are important in sustainable 
disaster preparedness and recovery so that this pathway is 
effectively connected to the other three pathways. 

Assumptions: 

• Communities have achieved sustainable food security and 
are economically empowered prior to a disaster

• Beneficiaries and their communities take up responsibil-
ity for investing in regular disaster prevention measures 
and mitigation measures to enhance their resilience

Contributes to SDGs: 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 13 and 17.

PARTNERSHIPS

Today, ICCO is no longer a donor organization, but a co-im-
plementer of multi-stakeholder programs, an initiator of 
public-private partnerships, and a networking organization 
that works with (local) governments, civil society organ-
izations, private companies and knowledge institutes. To 

implement our priority themes we work with a variety of 
financing instruments, funding resources and business 
entities. 
 
In Appendix II, we provide an overview of joint activities 
undertaken with strategic partners.

IMPACT MEASUREMENT 

ICCO Cooperation aims to become a data-driven organ-
ization, generating high-quality evidence to underpin 
our program implementation and impact. In 2016, we 
fine-tuned our planning, monitoring, evaluation and 
learning system, to ensure accountability throughout the 
organization.

Program design and development
The first stage in the design of ICCO programs entails 
 elaborating a theory of change, which serves as a starting 
point for joint problem analysis, creating a vision of the 
social impact of the program and setting out the program 
logic. An example of this is the Strategic Partnership 
program of the Civic Engagement Alliance (page 82), which 
was launched in 12 countries in 2016. The partners have 
developed  a shared framework for integrated planning, 
monitoring, evaluation and learning by all stakeholders, 
and at various levels.

Supporting software
In 2016 we developed a new monitoring and evaluation 
system in which the most important goals, results, indi-
cators, targets and program scores are recorded in the 
Program Monitoring and Evaluation (ProMEva) database. 
The database includes information on the program logic,  
geo-locations and value for money of different programs. In 
addition, it is linked to AllSolutions, a financial information 
service. ProMEva presents tailor-made dashboards with 
management information for the various levels of the organ-
ization. ICCO is also affiliated with the International Aid 
Transparency Initiative (IATI). Information in ProMEva can 
be exported in accordance with the IATI standard.

Uniform set of indicators
For all programs we have designed a new framework to 
collect a core set of uniform data for core ICCO themes, 
further enabling program staff and partners to draw key 
lessons learned. We use a fixed set of indicators that are 
linked to a number of internationally developed and vali-
dated questionnaires, like the Household Food Insecurity 
Access Scale (HFIAS), the Dietary Diversity Survey (DDS), 
the Progress out of Poverty Index and SCOPEinsight 
tools. Moreover, these indicators can be easily linked to 
the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) monitoring 
framework. 

International donors, like Mastercard Foundation that funds 
the STARS program in Africa (page 83) have shown an inter-

OUR TARGET
By 2020, ICCO programs and partnerships have contrib-

uted to 50,000 resilient disaster prepared families

Total reached in 2016: 25,000   on track

OUR TARGET
By 2020, 50 private sector companies demonstrate 

respect human rights

Total reached in 2016: 12   on track
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Food security status

Moderately food insecure 134

Mildly food insecure 53

Food secure 34

Severely food insecure 30

Woreda

Kindo Koysha Woreda 132

Offa Woreda 119

Disabled

No  219

Yes  32

est in this data-driven approach. Data collectors use smart-
phones or tablets with the Akvo Flow survey application to 
ease data collection and minimize the margin of error. ICCO 
also makes increasing use of data visualizations, based on 
geographic information systems (GIS), in order to facili-
tate broader understanding and use of the data generated. 
Figure 3 provides an example of how we used GIS in 2016:

The map shows the food security status and DDS score 
(food group count) of households in four woredas (districts) 
in Ethiopia. Data can be filtered to show different aspects, 
for example gender aspects, or the presence of disability 
in a particular household. This helps to provide insights on 
which areas are more at risk. 

Data gathering helps to better understand the situation in 
the targeted areas and provides information to improve our 
programs and hold local administrators accountable. 

Learning and knowledge management
In 2016 ICCO developed a new knowledge management 
and learning system that will come into force in 2017. The 
information is generated through thematic networks of focal 
points at country, regional and global levels. This knowledge 
provides a structure against which to determine and change 
strategies for country-specific programs, and outlines causal 
pathways towards our long-term objectives. This is not only 
valuable for ICCO, but also to all those interested in joining 
our alliances, or supporting our programs, including donors 
and governments, to businesses and civil society.

Figure 3: Food and nutrition security status in an Ethiopian woreda

Food security status
  Severely food insecure

  Moderately food insecure

  Mildly food insecure

  Food secure
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02 Results

Gloria Aranaitwe is an innovative 

entrepreneur of nutritious drinks 

in Uganda.

Photo: ICCO/Eva de Vries
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Kampala, Uganda

Addis Abeba
Juba

Kigali

Bujumbura

Lilongwe

Harare

Pretoria
Antananarivo

D
espite these positive trends, the continent has 
been severely been affected by El Niño and 
other consequences of climate change. In 2016 
many countries, including Ethiopia, Malawi and 

Zimbabwe, experienced severe drought,  while Madagascar 
faced destructive floods.

A growing number of countries also continued to face polit-
ical instability and a shrinking space for civil society. This 
volatility hampered ICCO’s performance in Ethiopia, where 

the announcement of a state of emergency in October 2016 
led to difficulties in accessing several disaster response 
project areas. Continuing insecurity in Mali and South Sudan 
is a source of concern, especially as it threatens to expand 
within the country and even across borders. In the case of 
South Sudan the consequences are being felt in neighboring 
countries Uganda, Ethiopia and the Democratic Republic 
of the Congo, where over 1.5 million refugees have arrived 
in recent years, putting a huge strain on these countries’ 
resources. 

Africa
African countries have maintained impressive economic growth rates for the past 15 years. According 
to the African Development Bank the average gross real domestic product on the continent rose from 
around 2% during the 1980-90s to above 5% in 2001-14. On the whole, economic activity is increasing, 
education is improving and the explosion of mobile phone ownership and mobile-based technologies 
have helped millions of Africans to access information and other resources to improve their lives.  

Central, Eastern and Southern Africa

Indicator Result 2016

Food Security and Sustainable Consumption

Households with improved food security 19,771

Economic Empowerment

Farmers trained 1,850

People with an increase in income 6,297

Farmers with increase in agricultural productivity 9,042

Emergency Response

Households supported in (food) production 
and income generating activities

1,713

Households with improved food security 5,172

People using improved sanitation facilities 5,000

Expenditure per theme

 Food Security & Sustainable Consumption

  Economic Empowerment

 Emergency Response

  Other (e.g. public space for NGOs,  

HIV/Aids, children at risk, women rights)

Indicators and results
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Together, with many new partners, ICCO implemented 24 

projects in 12 countries of Central, Eastern and Southern 

Africa in 2016. See for the complete project list Appendix I.

REFLECTIONS

In 2016, ICCO consolidated its transition from primarily 
being a strategic funder towards becoming directly involved 
in (co)-implementing projects on the ground. In line with 
this new approach, we strengthened our collaboration with 
key strategic partners, such as Mastercard Foundation, 
Heineken and the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs.
 
ICCO’s focus on stimulating private sector development 
– through such programs as  ‘Making Markets Work for 
the Poor’ (M4P) – fits in well in the economic ambitions 
of several African governments.  A unique aspect of this 
approach, which is one of added values that ICCO brings in, 
is making connections with microfinance institutions (MFIs) 
and co-financing of end producers at the higher levels of the 
value chain. This helps to create access to markets for small-
holder farmers and other producers at the “bottom” of the 
value chain who have received technical support from ICCO 
to improve their production. We pay specific attention to 
youth and informal skills training across our programs. This 
is tried and tested  strategy that will continue to be relevant 
in coming years, especially since it helps to explore sustain-
able ways to address youth unemployment, which is a major 
problem across the region.

ACHIEVEMENTS

Ethiopia: Funding agricultural innovation 
The Food Security and Rural Entrepreneurship (FSRE) 
Fund in Ethiopia was established in 2013 with the objective 
of improving the food security of farming families and to 
enhance their income, investment and jobs. ICCO manages 
the fund on behalf of its partner AgriProFocus, with financ-
ing from the Embassy of the Kingdom of the Netherlands. 
In the six funding rounds so far, the Fund has provided 39 
innovation grants, 29 matching grants and seven up-scaling 
grants to actors in agricultural development. The funded 
projects are implemented in four regional states: Oromia, 
Southern Nation, Nationalities and Peoples (SNNPR), 
Amhara and Tigray. Since 2015 the Fund has focused on the 
horticulture, aquaculture, poultry and potato value chains. 

Ethiopia: Inclusive finance for smallholders
In Ethiopia various inclusive finance projects are underway 
to increase and improve access to finance for smallholder 
farmers. Five MFIs and eight savings and credit cooperative 
unions have received support from the program. In 2016, 
ICCO provided technical assistance to the MFIs to refine 
their agri-lending processes and develop an agri-credit 
assessment tool. By linking the tool with geospatial data 
gathered through the CommonSense project, MFIs can 

reduce their operational costs, enabling them to better 
serve small self-help groups and remote rural communities. 
ICCO also facilitated linkages between MFIs and producer 
organizations, and helped to broker loans for a local MFI by 
offering guarantees by ICCO and other partners. As a result 
of ICCO’s capacity development and brokering support, 13 
women’s self-help groups receiving finance from an MFI and 
eight cooperatives with a total membership of over 800,000 
people increasing their outreach to women by setting up 
2,143 solidarity groups.

Uganda: AgriSkills4You 

The AgriSkills4You program (2012-2016) trained 3,605 

youth in northern Uganda to improve their agricultural skills, 

leading to increased production by 6,320 farmers. More 

than half of the farmers regularly make use of the new busi-

ness services. The program also strengthened the capacity 

of 87 apprenticeship centers and nine technical vocational 

training centers to provide on-the-job training for graduates 

of the program. This has opened up employment opportu-

nities in agriculture, helping young farmers to move beyond 

subsistence farming to farming as a business, and contribut-

ing to increased household income and food security. 

Martha Akullu, 18 years: 
“Before I joined the AgriSkills4You training, I was just sitting 
around at home. I finished secondary school but couldn’t find 
work afterwards. I couldn’t afford a pretty dress like this one and 
we could hardly buy food 
for the family. During the 
training course, I learned 
how to feed the pigs 
and take care of them, 
but also how I could 
run my own farming 
business. After finishing 
the course, I received 
two little piglets. Now, a year later, I have two big pigs and eleven 
small ones. Look at my face - I am smiling! I am very grateful I 
could do this course and I’m looking forward to a bright future. In 
about five years, I hope to have at least one hundred pigs and be 
training others in my community.”

Watch the short movie ‘Agriskills4you’

youtube.com/iccocooperation
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Kenya/Uganda: Increasing food security and 
incomes from ‘Flying Food’
To address food shortages and create economic opportuni-
ties in Uganda and Kenya, the Flying Food program (2013 
- 2017) aims to develop an inclusive value chain on rearing 
crickets for consumption and marketing. The program is 
led by The Netherlands Organization for Applied Scientific 
Research (TNO) and implemented by a public-private part-
nership. ICCO acts as the regional coordinator and leads 
the work package on value chains. Funding comes from the 
Facility for Sustainable Entrepreneurship and Food Security 
(FDOV) of the Netherlands Enterprise Agency. Currently, 
350 farmers in Kenya and Uganda are receiving support to 
establish cricket production and 1,000 low-income consum-
ers have increased access to nutritious food.

Uganda: TV drama for peace in northern Uganda
The Crossroads Uganda program (2014 - 2017) produced 
13 drama episodes that began to air on national television 
in late 2016, reaching over three million viewers for each 
program. Content for the drama series was developed 
during an extensive consultation process, involving 72 
dialogue sessions that discussed peacebuilding and conflict 
transformation in northern Uganda. The area continues to 
struggle with the aftermath of a 20-year long conflict. 

Emergency response
With the support of the Disaster Relief Alliance (see page 83)  
emergency aid was provided to internally displaced persons 
in South Sudan. More than 9,000 people were provided with 
clean drinking water and toilets and 8,600 children received 
protection. 

In the Central African Republic, ICCO contributed to improved 
food security for 7,600 internally displaced people through 
school feeding and other programs. Other interventions 
provided access to clean sanitation for 4,000 people, while 
4,500 displaced persons received protection. Radio programs 
in support of civilian protection were also broadcast.

In Zimbabwe, 8,563 individuals in drought-affected commu-
nities received unconditional cash transfers, as well as a 
supply of drought tolerant and early-maturing grains and 
legumes and technical support, to enhance drought recov-
ery and boost resilience.  

In response to the drought in Ethiopia, ICCO and its partners 
distributed food aid to more than 22,000 people and facil-
itated water access for 12,000 people. To support drought 
recovery, 5,230 goats and 500 cows were distributed to 
1,910 farmer families. ICCO also supported the rehabilita-
tion of agricultural livelihoods by providing tools to 665 
farmer families, improved seeds to 1,737 families and train-
ing to 620 families. 10,000 people profited from the resto-
ration of wells and the construction of a new underground 
water storage system for drinking water. ICCO also trained 
263 members of community-level water commissions to 
maintain the installed infrastructure. 

NEW PROGRAMS

Civic Engagement Alliance
In 2016 the Civic Engagement Alliance (see page 62) 
launched the Strategic Partnership on Lobby and Advocacy 
in Ethiopia, Kenya and Uganda. Among the first steps taken 
were determining the focus of each country program, select-
ing partner organizations, and collecting baseline informa-
tion on the status of food security and nutrition diversity 
in the project areas. The baseline studies were conducted 
using the state of the art data collection and analysis tools 
that ICCO now applies across all its country programs.  The 
data gathered will ensure that our local advocacy campaigns 
are based on real evidence. Parallel to these activities, 
ICCO facilitated capacity development in lobby and advo-
cacy for 10 civil society organizations working with poor 
and marginalized communities. In Kenya, the civil society 
lobby for the operationalization of the Public Benefits 
Organization Act has already had some success, with ICCO’s 
partners spearheading the civil society network that will 
continue to lobby for the full implementation of the Act. 

STARS aims to improve the lives of 210,000 
farmers 
Strengthening African Rural Smallholders (STARS) is one of 
the new large-scale programs introduced by ICCO and its 
partners in 2016. With funding from Mastercard Foundation 
the program aims to facilitate access to financial and agri-
cultural services for smallholder farmers, hence contribut-
ing to food security and increased income. The program was 
launched in Rwanda, Ethiopia, Senegal and Burkina Faso 
and aims to ensure that at least half of the target 210,000 
farmers supported by the project are women. So far, the 
program has carried out eight gender disaggregated value 
chain analyses, as well as capacity assessments of producer 
organization assessments and MFIs. The program expects 
to contribute to improved knowledge and evidence-based 
policy making in support of rural agricultural finance and 
value chain development. Hence distilling and sharing the 
lessons learned will be an important part of the program’s 
activities.  

South Africa: Promoting sustainable barley 
production
In South Africa, we launched the ‘Black Emerging Farmers 
Economic Development’ project (2016 - 2018). The objective 
of this public-private partnership is to develop a sustainable 
local quality barley supply for Heineken beer by supporting 
emerging black farmers to scale up their production and 

Watch the animation 

about STARS

youtube.com/iccocooperation
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income. The project aims to integrate previously excluded 
farmers into a sustainable supply chain with a guaranteed 
market. 100 black smallholder farmers will receive training 
and mentoring in barley cultivation, and are expected to start 
supplying barley to Heineken by the end of 2018.

Malawi: Collective marketing of soya
In March 2016 the second Soya Profitability Project started, 
with the objective of increasing access and profitability of 

improved soya beans for 1,557 members of the Matenje 
farmers cooperative in Chulu area by July 2017. ICCO and 
its consortium partners aim to increase soya productivity 
from 700 kg/hectare to 2,000kg/hectare by 2017 and to 
empower the cooperative members for collective soya 
marketing. 

Kenya and Zimbabwe: Combatting child labor 
Another new project that was launched in 2016 is ‘Building 
Civil Society Capacity to Combat Child Labor’ (2016 - 
2018), which follows up the previous ICCO-funded country 
program (2012-2015). The project promotes child protec-
tion campaigns by ensuring that all children engaged in 
child labor are removed and placed back into the education 
system. The program has also established mechanisms in 
two intervention areas to promote children’s participation 
in education policy and implementation.

In Zimbabwe ICCO implements a similar project, ‘Towards 
Child Labour Free Zones,’ that has so far trained 30 corpo-
rate representatives, prepared a child labor handbook and 
convinced 187 contract farmers to stop using child labor on 
their farms. 

Bamako, Mali
Ouagadougou

Dakar

West Africa

Indicator Result 2016

Food Security and Sustainable Consumption

Women with improved dietary diversity 209,551

Households with improved food security 106,509

Economic Empowerment

People with an increase in income 49,906

Farmers	with	increase	in	profitability	of	the	farm 49,900

Responsible Business

Companies	having	an	international	certification	for	
their business processes

5

Youth	benefiting	from	skills	training	by	private	sector 1,100

Emergency Response

Households with improved food 1,000

People using improved sanitation facilities 5,000

Indicators and results

Expenditure per theme

  Food Security & Sustainable Consumption

 Economic Empowerment

 Responsible Business

 Emergency Response
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In 2016, ICCO worked on 14 projects in six West African 

countries. See for the complete project list Appendix I.

REFLECTIONS
 
In 2016 the region further concretized and strengthened its 
program work, especially in the area of economic empow-
erment and public-private partnerships.  Our strong market 
approach, based on the ‘Making Markets Work for the 
Poor’ strategy, was validated as the right way ahead for the 
program.  Our fundraising efforts were successful, enabling 
us to reach our annual target. With these developments, 
2017 promises to be another fruitful year. Key donors for 
ICCO programs in the region include the Dutch Government, 
USAID and Mastercard Foundation. The efforts invested in 
building good working relationships with these institutional 
partners should ease our work in 2017, with many propos-
als currently in the pipeline.

In a region confronted with insecurity it is very essential 
to ensure stability in the workplace. The regional office in 
Bamako put in place improved management structures, 
such as updating the organizational chart and related 
responsibilities. These changes, coupled with improved 
communication and an overhaul of working conditions 
and structures, have helped to motivate and strengthen the 
commitment of all staff. With the registration of country 
offices in Senegal and Burkina Faso, we moved one step 
closer to strengthening our local presence, which is essen-
tial in fulfilling our new role as a direct project implementer. 
It will also allow us to strengthen our financial accountabil-
ity in the respective countries.

ACHIEVEMENTS

Ghana: Market access for vegetable producers
In Ghana, the ‘Commercial Alliance for Smallholder 
Horticulture’ (CASH) program (2014 - 2016) increased 
market access for 880 smallholder vegetables producers 
in the Volta Region. Among other activities, the project 
promoted irrigation systems and intensive production 
technologies. ICCO also strengthened the capacities of 
horticulture cooperatives to facilitate the production 
of high quality specialty vegetables for the export and 
 domestic markets.

Watch the animation ‘Shea model’

youtube.com/iccocooperation

Mali: Unlocking the market  
potential of shea

ICCO coordinates the three-year (2014-2017) public-pri-

vate partnership that aims strengthen the shea value chain 

in Mali, helping to increase food security, sustainable income, 

gender equality and the resilience of female shea harvest-

ers and processors. The program has already yielded some 

tremendous achievements. It sustainably linked 38,000 

women to markets through secured and lucrative forward 

contracts with international companies. To achieve this 

milestone, ICCO supported small-scale women producers 

to improve quality and meet market requirements. We also 

supported 38 cooperatives to improve their governance 

structures,	including	their	financial	and	administrative	

management systems. These improvements have helped 

shea producers to add value to their products and increase 

their income, and increased women’s social status and deci-

sion-making power. With a sustainable source of income, 

shea producers – many of whom are heads of their house-

holds – are now more resilient to external shocks. 

The shea cooperatives sell their products to the private 

companies SOATAF and Olvea. 

Modibo Talla, CEO of SOATAF: 

‘We used to source about 176 tons of shea from the coopera-
tives, while today, our annual purchase from the cooperatives 
hovers around 2,000 tons. With ICCO we now explore possibil-
ities to invest in a local processing plant, to capture added-value 
locally and expand job creation.” 

To diversify the 

income base for 

rural producers 

in Mali, USAID 

Mali funded a 

two-year extension 

to consolidate the 

program’s achieve-

ments and expand this approach to the development of a 

market for beeswax. The new project is expected to provide 

training and a secure market for 3,000 female producers. 

The Global Shea Alliance has also approved a three-year 

extension to further expand the impact of the program. 

Watch the short film  

‘From Subsistence Farmer  

to Business Farmer’

youtube.com/iccocooperation
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Burkina Faso: Better nutrition for the very poor
In Burkina Faso, the PROSANUT program (2013-2016) 
contributed to improve the food and nutrition situation of 
9,705 poor and very poor households in the communes of 
Bagaré, La-todin, Pilimpikou and Samba. Together with its 
partners ODERich Italia the program trained nutrition tech-
nical officers to reach out  to 199,551 women with the goal 
of improving dietary diversity at the household level. Other 
support activities included the creation of village level nutri-
tion security committees, raising awareness, monitoring the 
nutritional status of children, and referring malnourished 
children to health services. 

Emergency response 
The joint response of the Dutch Relief Alliance in Nigeria 
was initiated to support people fleeing the violent  Boko 
Haram insurgency in the north of the country. The program 
primarily focused on water and sanitation. Currently, 
5,000 people are using improved sanitation facilities, while 
11,000 displaced people have access to safe drinking water. 
Through the cumulative efforts of the ACT Alliance network, 
21,000 displaced people were able to access toilet facili-
ties and clean drinking water. 16,000 people received food 
vouchers to buy food or agricultural inputs such as seeds, 
tools and training.

NEW PROGRAMS

Civic Engagement Alliance
The Civic Engagement Alliance (see page 82) launched the 
Strategic Partnership on Lobby and Advocacy in West Africa 
in 2016. In Benin, the focus is on the further development 
of the shea and cashew sectors, while in Mali the objective 
is to contribute to food security and sustainable consump-
tion. The program also contributes to the implementation 
of ICCO’s value chain development programs and other 
thematic initiatives, by addressing the broader policy and 
institutional constraints that could have an impact on these 
initiatives.

Mali: Fighting child labor
At the end of 2016, ICCO launched a new program to combat 
child labor in the shea value chain in Mali. ICCO and its 
local partners embarked on awareness raising and advo-
cacy campaigns around the country.  In an early result, one 
company has obtained international certification confirming 
that its production processes are child-labor free.  

Mali: Addressing the root causes of conflict 
Another program that was launched in late 2016 is the 
‘Addressing the Root Causes of Conflict’ program (2016 - 

2020) in Mali, funded by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of 
the Netherlands. The projected is co-implemented with 
Norwegian Church Aid and the Human Security Collective. 
ICCO began by carrying out a capacity building program 
for local and national organizations involved in facilitating 
lobbying and advocacy processes to promote good govern-
ance, conflict management and dialogue. The long-term goal 
is to contribute to increased human security and stimulate 
inclusive political processes in light of the deteriorating 
security situation. 

AFRICA: LESSONS LEARNED

ICCO increasingly executes programs as part of public-pri-
vate partnerships with other actors. Since one of the main 
aims of this approach is to improve the sustainability of 
the interventions, an important lesson learned is the need 
to effectively engage the private sector before the start of 
the program design phase. This requires strategic account 
management and a focused partnership strategy, which is 
now in place for selected value chains. 

In line with global trends, ICCO combines humanitarian 
interventions with programs in the field of food security and 
economic development. A strong example of this integrated 
approach to programming can be seen in Madagascar, 
where ICCO connects food security activities to strategic 
value chains with a strong link to the private sector. We will 
continue to adapt this experience to future programs. 

The CASH project in Ghana demonstrates the importance of 
a flexible approach to program management. When extreme 
temperatures affected the effectiveness of greenhouse 
structures the use shade nets to the mid-sections resulted 
in substantial temperature drop. This demonstrated to the 
farmers the importance of adapting technologies to suit 
local conditions. This approach was also successful in South 
Sudan, where ICCO project sites moved to keep pace with 
the refugee target population, or in Mali where the interven-
tion area of the conflict prevention program was expanded 
in response to changing dynamics in the conflict. 

The AgriSkills4you program in Uganda highlights the value 
of facilitating apprenticeships and mentorship to comple-
ment the training provided to young farmers and refugees. 
Such informal skills training contributed to increased 
employment opportunities for the trainees. 



21

Dhaka

New Delhi

KathmanduIslamabad

Bishkek

Asia
Despite positive economic growth across most of Asia, including in emerging economies like 
Cambodia and Myanmar, the region continued to experience a shrinking political space in 2016. 
Tougher government regulations and demands to prove their added value made it more difficult 
for local and international civil society organizations to carry out their operations. Interreligious 
tensions were also on the rise, as radicalism continued to spread in various countries, such as 
Indonesia, Bangladesh and Myanmar.

South and Central Asia

Indicators and results

ICCO works in six countries in this region, implementing 

29 projects that promote an integrated approach to tack-

ling injustice and promoting inclusive economic develop-

ment. See for the complete project list Appendix I.  

REFLECTIONS

In 2016, we continued to implement activities under the 
four priority themes, while paying special attention to 

the position of women and people with disabilities. This 
enabled us to enhance our thematic expertise and build 
synergies in our work through bringing together coun-
try teams working at the regional level. This integrated 
approach was also reflected in administrative functions 
such as human resources, finance and communication, as 
well as in our collaboration with Kerk in Actie. 

While we fell short of our fundraising target for 2016, we 
are on track to raise additional financing in 2017. During 

Indicator Result 2016

Food Security and Sustainable Consumption

Women with improved dietary diversity 60,800

Households with improved food security 66,679

Economic Empowerment

Farmers trained 4,350

People with an increase in income 13,540

Farmers with increase in agricultural productivity 1,456

Responsible business

Companies	having	an	international	certification	for	their	
business processes

1

Emergency Response

Number of households supported in (food)  production and 
income generating activities

3,375

Number of people reached with improved housing conditions 388

People using improved sanitation facilities 527

Expenditure per theme

 Food Security & Sustainable Consumption

  Economic Empowerment

 Responsible Business

 Emergency Response
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the year we consolidated our relationship with Brot für die 
Welt and other ICCO Alliance partners, as well as institu-
tional partners, including the European Union, Embassies 
of the Kingdom of the Netherlands, the UK Department 
for International Development (DfID) and private foun-
dations. We also continued to explore new opportunities 
with donors such as the World Bank and the United States 
Agency for International Development (USAID).

Central Asia on the Move
Since 2011, ICCO has led the collaborative ‘Central Asia on 
the Move’ program, that brings together 31 civil society 
organizations from Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan and Russia. The 
program promotes social care, education, health and polit-
ical rights in poor communities that are highly affected by 
migration. The program’s achievements in recent years 
include: facilitating the establishment of small public coun-
cils at local level; influencing local budget processes as well 
as national and interregional migration policies; and estab-
lishing self-help groups to strengthen greater citizen partici-

pation in local decision making.
In 2016, activities focused on appropriate state registration 
process and access to public services, as well as enhancing 
opportunities for income generation in Kyrgyzstan and 
Tajikistan. ICCO also supported the strengthening of farm-
ers groups, for instance through providing  training in the 
construction of greenhouses.

Disaster recovery in Nepal
Together with Kerk in Actie, ICCO developed a regional disas-
ter preparedness program aimed at enlarging the emergency 
response capacity of program teams in Central Asia, Nepal and 
Bangladesh. Following the earthquake in Nepal on 25 April 
2015, ICCO implemented livelihoods recovery and winter-
ization interventions in three of the most severely affected 
districts of Central Nepal. The intervention involved close 
collaboration with the affected communities, government 
service delivery organizations, private suppliers and traders, 
and relevant technical institutions. This multi-actor approach 
helped to restore critical community infrastructure such as 

Bangladesh: Profitable opportunities  
for rural households
Profitable	Opportunities	for	Food	Security	(PROOFS)	is	a	four-

year project that serves 80,000 rural households in northwest 

and southwest Bangladesh. It aims to contribute to improve-

ments in household food and nutrition security, especially for 

infants, young children and women of reproductive age, as 

well as better access to water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) 

services for these communities. 

PROOFS is funded by the Embassy of the Kingdom of the 

Netherlands, and implemented by ICCO in partnership with iDE 

Bangladesh, the BoP Innovation Center and Edukans. PROOFS 

works directly with private sector actors so they can develop 

successful business models that target producers and consumers 

“at the bottom of the pyramid.” To ensure that poor producers 

benefit	from	markets,	the	project	works	to	strengthen	the	value	

chains in which rural households depend. It does this by building 

the	business	and	financial	capacity	of	market	actors	that	provide	

diverse services to farmers and other producers. In addition, the 

project  encourages greater collaboration with other stakehold-

ers, such as multinational companies and the public sector. 

In 2016, the project introduced the ‘Nutrition Sales Agent’ 

program, aimed at contributing to improved nutrition and 

hygiene services among small-scale farmer households. The 

first	step	was	to	identify	and	train	320	women	as	agents.	The	

agents visit rural households from door to door, to promote and 

sell packages containing nutrition and hygiene products. The 

packages are developed in collaboration with private companies, 

thus helping to expand market solutions for food and nutrition 

security, as well as WASH services. 

Since the start of the project in 2013, 66,000 households 

have improved their food security, whilst 54,000 farmers have 

increased their agricultural productivity by at least 20%. Both 

results are well on target. Our target of providing 72,000 house-

holds with access to appropriate technology has already been 

achieved. These measures have contributed to increased income 

for 46,000 households so far. A striking impact indicator of 

PROOFS is the adoption of new water and sanitation technology. 

With many people crossed over to this new technology, we were 

able to reach 149,000 individuals, far exceeding our initial targets. 

Watch the short movie ‘Making Markets for Nutrition’

youtube.com/iccocooperation
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irrigation schemes and agricultural roads, as well as damaged 
processing facilities such as grinding mills, cardamom drying 
kilns and a hand-made paper steamer facility. These actions  
benefited over 18,846 households.  Despite the fuel and 
supply shortages caused by the unofficial trade embargo with 
India, the winterization program provided winter essentials 
like blankets, clothing and bedding to 1,164 households.
In other activities aimed at enhancing the disaster prepar-
edness and resilience of local communities, ICCO supported 
the formation of local groups to conduct safety drills, 
vulnerability capacity assessments and develop emergency 
preparedness and response plans. We also continued to 
actively promote the use of climate adaptive agricultural 
techniques and pilot new and innovative technologies. For 
example, 400 households were able to start climate-smart 
vegetable production through improved plastic tunnels.

NEW PROGRAMS

Civic Engagement Alliance
The Civic Engagement Alliance (see page 82)  implements 
projects in India and Bangladesh. In India, the Alliance 
organized meetings at different levels and with a wide 
range of actors, including NGOs, corporate bodies, financial 
institutions, public sector actors and technical experts. 
During a roundtable discussion co-organized with the 
Centre for Responsible Business, for example, participants 
shared diverse perspectives on how to strengthen the 
agro-food value chain. The event attracted representatives 
from the Government of India, Rabobank, Bayer India, the 
United Nations Children’s Fund (UNICEF), the World Food 
Programme,  the Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil, the 
Embassy of the Kingdom of the Netherlands and the Indian 
Association of Agribusiness Professionals. In Bangladesh, 
similar consultations provided input for a country plan that 
was followed up by a baseline survey and the identification 
of producer organizations, traders associations and local 
service providers to be involved in advocacy activities.

South East Asia

Indicators and results

Indicator Result 2016

Food Security and Sustainable Consumption

Households with improved food security 33,240

Economic Empowerment

Farmers trained 1,347

People with an increase in income 5,100

Farmers with increase in agricultural productivity 1,272

Denpasar

Manila
Yangoon

Phnom Penh

Expenditure per theme

 Food Security & Sustainable Consumption

  Economic Empowerment

 Responsible Business

 Emergency Response

In four countries in this region ICCO is involved in 26 

projects. See for the complete project list Appendix I.

REFLECTIONS

One year after the conclusion of the previous five-year 
program (MFSII), ICCO’s role in the region has changed 
significantly. While we previously acted primarily as a 
funding organization, we are now involved in co-imple-
menting projects and public-private partnerships. We 
have also taken the lead in several public-private part-
nerships,  such as the G4AW programs in Indonesia and 
Vietnam. This shift has necessitated a major overhaul 
of our internal management systems, as well as the 
core competencies of our staff.

Watch the short film  

‘Plastic Tunnels in Phakel’

youtube.com/iccocooperation
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As is the case in other parts of the world, ICCO’s programs 
in South East Asia continued to face an increasingly compet-
itive funding environment due to the decline in official 
development assistance.  In order to adjust to this reality we 
made efforts to become more flexible and adaptive in our 
operations. We also sought to enhance  cost efficiency and 
create value for money by focusing on a few knowledge and 
geographical areas, in particular Indonesia, Cambodia and 
Myanmar.  In these countries we focus on the niche markets 
of coffee, rice, vegetables and fruits, pulses, aquaculture, 
spices and nuts. 

ACHIEVEMENTS

High premium rice production and marketing in 
Indonesia
This four-year program (2015 - 2019) trains, motivates 
and coaches 10,000 farmers in Central Java to improve 
the production and marketing of high premium rice, using 
certified seeds and organic fertilizers and pesticides. This is 
done through strengthening the existing business organiza-
tions of rice farmers known as LDPMs. With support from 
the Netherlands Enterprise Agency (RVO), this public-pri-
vate partnership brings together VredesEilanden Country 
Office (VECO) Indonesia, the Food Security Board of Central 
Java and Jateng Bank. In 2016, one producer organization 
succeeded in joining an international rice value chain and 
120 small-scale producers were able to increase their 
income. 

Indonesia: Bringing nutmeg smallholders back 
to the market 
The decline in farmers’ knowledge and production skills has 
led to the deterioration of nutmeg quality and low prices in 
recent years. A three-year ICCO project launched in 2015 
has  contributed to the capacity building of 5,000 (2,000 
female) nutmeg producers in North Moluccas. Farmers 
were trained in good agricultural practices, organizational 
strengthening, marketing and microfinance services, with 
the goal of increasing their income by at least 10%. One 

of ICCO’s roles is to facilitate sustainable financing for the 
project through a combination of loans, grants, and guar-
antees. So far, financial support has given by the Ministry 
of Foreign Affairs of the Netherlands, IDH Sustainable 
Trade Initiative, Common Fund for Commodities, and ICCO 
Investments. By the end of 2016, 1,205 farmers had passed 
the international organic certificate, while 3,796 farmers 
were registered and committed to adopting organic stand-
ards in their production.

Human Cities Coalition 
The Human Cities Coalition is the Dutch public-private 
partnership of organizations from business, government, 
NGOs and academia committed to making cities and human 
settlements more inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable. 
One of the founding partners of the project is the Dutch 
multinational company AkzoNobel. As a coalition partner, 
ICCO focuses on ensuring that interventions are inclusive. 
We have contributed to the meaningful participation of poor 
communities in Jakarta and Manila and helped to stimulate 
innovative business solutions and public-private partner-
ships. ICCO is also strongly involved in lobbying govern-
ments and the business sector.

Myanmar: Meaningful employment for people 
with disabilities
REVEAL stands for ‘Reducing Economic Vulnerability 
by Enhancing Alternative Livelihoods.’ In the fourth 
phase of this project (2016 - 2018), ICCO supported The 
Leprosy Mission Myanmar to implement social protec-
tion programs and improved livelihoods for people with 
disabilities and their families. A core message is that 
people with disabilities do not only have the right to work, 
but also the ability to do so. In 2016, REVEAL organized 
vocational training for 40 participants in the program, 
covering such skills as motorcycle repair, hairdressing, cell 
phone repair, sewing and liquid soap making. In addition 
to opening up employment opportunities for graduates, 
the project supported participants to start a business  and 
raised awareness to private companies about their obli-
gations under the People With Disabilities Law. Some of 
the businesses started so far include making and selling 
snacks, recycling and livestock breeding.

NEW PROGRAMS

GREENcoffee Vietnam
This three-year public-private partnership (2016 - 2019) 
implements a financially sustainable information service 
based on geodata. The objective is to support 100,000 coffee 
farmers to increase their production, income, food security 
and reduce their inputs of water, fertilizer and pesticides. 
The partnership is managed by ICCO and funded by the 
Netherlands Space Office and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
of the Netherlands. Besides ICCO, other members include 
UTZ, Akvo, Waterwatch Projects, TTC Mobile and Nelen & 
Schuurmans. 

Watch the short film  

‘High premium rice’

youtube.com/iccocooperation

Watch the short film  

Spicing up Organic Nutmeg

youtube.com/iccocooperation
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SMARTSeeds Indonesia
The Geodata for Water and Agriculture (G4AW) public-pri-
vate partnership aims to reach 100,000 smallholder produc-
ers of chili, tomato and cucumber in three provinces of 
Indonesia.  The project seeks to build a financially sustain-
able information service to help increase farm productiv-
ity and reduce agricultural inputs. Once established, the 
services can be easily extended to other types of crops and 
more regions in Indonesia. ICCO is the lead organization 
in the Consortium, which also includes EAST-WEST SEED, 
University of Twente and Institut Pertanian Bogor.

The Civic Engagement Alliance kicks off 
activities
In Cambodia the Civic Engagement Alliance (see page 82) 
has developed a theory of change and country plan to guide 
its interventions. All country partners of the implement-
ing organizations – ICCO and CNV Internationaal – also a 
attended a five-day training in lobbying and advocacy. In 
Indonesia, the Alliance is focusing on two priority programs: 
economic empowerment of smallholders in the rice, tea, 
horticulture and spices sectors; and responsible business. 
In November, the Alliance participated in the Dutch Trade 
Mission to Indonesia. After writing a first draft of the base-
line report in June 2016, Alliance activities in Myanmar 
began to take shape from October onwards. Civil society 
organizations in Myanmar have received capacity develop-
ment support to better advocate for the rights of farmers, 
workers and marginalized groups vis a vis private sector 
companies and the government.

ASIA: LESSONS LEARNED

ICCO works to ensure that public-private partnerships 
respond to the needs of groups that “miss the boat” in the 
fast growing Asian economies. Over the years ICCO has built 
up valuable knowledge on how to design such partnerships, 
with the market as a starting point and in cooperation with 
the right business players. We have learned that a market 
based approach can only be successful when the important 
role of marginalized groups in communities, such as women 
and children, is explicitly acknowledged. To go one step 
further and scale up projects, it is important to work with 
partners that have real added value. 

As we transitioned from our previous role as a donor to a 
(co)-implementer of programs on the ground, one of the 
first tasks in 2016 was to review our legal instruments 
and administrative procedures. An important new role for 
ICCO is managing partnership agreements with various 
stakeholders. This requires allocating sufficient time for due 
diligence and crafting agreements that provide sufficient 
guidance for partner organizations, while also addressing 
potentially contentious issues like intellectual property and 
ownership of data. 

Stronger communities in Sumatra

The ‘Advancing Sustainable Business and Ancestral Land 

Recognition’ (ASBALR PACT) project (2015 - 2018) 

strengthens networks of peatland communities and 

empowers them with knowledge and skills to claim 

their rights in dialogues with business associations. The 

EU-funded project is a collaboration of ICCO, HuMa and 

Scale Up. In 2016, a civil society coalition on business and 

human rights was established and successfully lodged a 

land claim on behalf of  one community in Siak province. 

Nurul Firmansyah (HuMa):
“Once the ASBALR PACT program has been completed, we 
expect that networks and cooperatives will be more organized 
and structured. This will ensure that community rights are 
fulfilled by gaining access to the land that has been taken away 
from them by companies and continuing their livelihoods.“

Watch the short film  

‘GREENcoffee and 

SMARTseeds’

youtube.com/iccocooperation
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Managua

Bogotá

La Paz

Latin America
Economic and social inequalities are increasing across most of Latin America. Millions of people 
in Brazil, Venezuela and Argentina live below the poverty line. Many countries are experiencing 
an economic slowdown due, in part, to dropping oil and minerals prices. This has affected the 
implementation of social policies in the region. 

T
he phasing out of international cooperation has also 
had an impact on the work of civil society organiza-
tions in such countries as Brazil, Bolivia and Ecuador. 
Drug-related violence and other conflicts have 

continued to rise, especially in Central America and Colombia.  
This creates a vicious cycle as the lack of opportunities forces 
many young people to turn to crime. With few job opportuni-
ties, many are also migrating to the United States.

Most projects address economic empowerment for women 
and young people living in rural areas, through a focus 
on selected agri-food chains and food security, as well as 
climate action. ICCO also implements programs aimed at 
addressing the root causes of violence, which particularly 
affects young men and women.

Indicators and results

Expenditure per theme

 Food Security & Sustainable Consumption

  Economic Empowerment

 Responsible Business

  Other (e.g. childeren at risk, combatting 

sexual exploitation and climate)

Indicator Result 2016

Food Security and Sustainable Consumption

Women with improved dietary diversity 3,451

Households with improved food security 5,656

Economic Empowerment

Farmers trained 5,738

People with an increase in income 9,562

Farmers with increase in agricultural productivity 4,290

Farmers	with	increase	in	profitability	of	the	farm 4,025

Responsible Business

Companies	having	an	international	certification	for	their	
business processes

6

Youth	benefiting	from	skills	training	by	private	sector 4,616

Other themes

Poor and marginalized people trained in lobby and 
 advocacy skills

16,577

Children trained to advocate for child rights and protect 
against sexual exploitation

949
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ICCO implements 10 projects in 15 Latin American 

 countries. See for the complete project list Appendix I.

REFLECTIONS

By 2016, the region has focused on consolidating relations 
with local partners and expanding and deepening existing 
programs. In addition to projects that focus on the main 
themes of ICCO, we also implemented projects addressing 
pertinent regional themes, such as sexual exploitation of 
children, children and youth at risk, climate change and the 
land rights of indigenous people. Important stakeholders in 
Latin America include Melting Pot, the Bolivian Government, 
the European Union, Kerk in Actie and the Meso-Americano 
People and the Forest Alliance.

A key achievement during the year was the establishment of 
a social enterprise based on the Manq’a movement, which 
promotes youth-led businesses in the gastronomy sector. The 
success of this model enabled us to replicate it in Colombia. 
We are also studying the potential of extension in Guatemala. 
As planned, ICCO’s (co-) implementing role in the region 
grew strongly in 2016. We focused on so-called collective 
impact models and invite donors and partners to participate 
in this. In Central America, Christian Aid and ICCO decided to 
strengthen their collaboration in program implementation 
as well as fundraising. The two organizations will work in a 
shared office from January 2017 onwards.

ICCO’s new role has led to the adjustment of the organiza-
tion and the staff ’s competencies. Our work in the region 
has been further streamlined with the establishment 
of three sub-regional offices in Bolivia, Colombia and 
Nicaragua respectively. In line with the renewed thematic 
and country focus, ICCO’s lobby and advocacy, as well as 
our democratization programs, are now integrated into 
thematic programs. In 2016, it was also decided to stop 
operations in Peru and Brazil for the time being.

ACHIEVEMENTS

Manq’a cooking schools in Bolivia and in 
Colombia
Manq’a is a young social enterprise that trains youth in 
gastronomy and food businesses as a mechanism to improve 
their livelihoods. By December 2016 it had opened up 
markets for 200 farmers and trained 1,780 young cooks, 

Watch the short film  

‘Manq’a’

youtube.com/iccocooperation

ICCO partners with cement factory 
to boost local livelihoods

Cooperativa Boliviana de Cemento (COBOCE) is a 

cooperative that operates a cement factory in the 

Cochabamba region of Bolivia. COBOCE aims to 

promote corporate social responsibility through 

its work with local communities. ICCO supports 

COBOCE’s ‘Generating Ventures with Values’ 

program to stimulate collective and individual 

business development, with a particular focus on 

women and youth. 

Prior to the start of the intervention, the community 

was	facing	difficulties	due	to	the	decline	of		dairy,	

vegetable and fruit production. Many young people 

were dropping out of school and women were 

forced	to	migrate	to	the	cities	to	find	work.		ICCO’s	

support has helped to establish a dairy coopera-

tive and processing plant serving 365 producers. 

Another cooperative for women has helped to train 

for 200 women in various practical skills. 

As a result of the technical training provided, farm-

ers have increased the volume as well as quality of 

fruits and vegetables, enabling around 500 dairy 

farmers, 150 entrepreneurs and 350 horticultural 

and fruit farmers to sell more products for better 

prices. Moreover, 1,200 youth have participated in 

skills training, with 12 students receiving a college 

scholarship to pursue higher studies.  

Irene (43 years old) works as principal at a school. 

She is single mother of two and is participating 

in a weaving course offered by the women’s 

cooperative. 
“I make chullitos (indigenous hat) for my neighbors 
and they pay me 20-30 bolívianos (about US$ 3-4), 
This extra income makes it possible to send the kids to 
school, eat better and dream of a better future. I have 
talent for sewing and I want to do this for a living. I 
dream of having my own business and being able to 
help other women in my community.”
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many of whom are women. In addition to creating new job 
opportunities, the project is helping to make healthy food 
accessible to urban dwellers, and in particular children who 
participate in school breakfasts. 
Since it was started in 2013, Manq’a has grown to 10 cook-
ing schools in Bolivia and two in Colombia. In 2016, the 
cooking schools developed business plans to guide their 
further development and enable them to become self suffi-
cient in the long term. Building on this positive experience 
there are plans to open more cooking schools in other Latin 
American countries. 

Production of organic crops on the rise
Since 2011, ICCO has coordinated a project to promote the 
production of organic herbal teas, amaranth and cotton 
in Bolivia. The objective is to strengthen the capacities of 
farmers and provide opportunities for business develop-
ment and local employment for small-scale producers. This 
contributes to the availability of diversified foods and local 
food security. With financial support from the European 
Union, ICCO is involved in a collaborative project in Potosí, 
in the Andes region of northern Bolivia, that works with 
1,200 families, and more than 15 local enterprises. As a 
result of the technical and business assistance provided, 
producers have increased their income by an average of 
15%, while the sales and revenues of organic products have 
risen by 10%. 

Beekeeping empowers indigenous youth
‘Rights & Opportunities for Indigenous and Afro 
Descendant Youth’ is a multi project program of ICCO and 
local organizations in Guatemala and Nicaragua, funded 
by Kerk in Actie. One if its projects, developed by Centro 
de Paz Barbara Ford (CBF), empowers indigenous youth 
in Quiché, a Maya region in Guatemala, who find it hard 
to access employment and education, or to participate in 
public processes. The project works with a cooperative 
of young indigenous Maya beekeepers. The cooperative 
produced 618 pounds of honey with in total 91 beehives 
in 2016. That makes the cooperative a national leader in 
beekeeping and honey production.

NEW PROGRAMS

Local communities benefit from sustainable 
land management
ICCO supports Afro-Colombian communities in Choco 
(Colombia) to earn a livelihood from the sustainable 
management of their natural resources, while also reducing 
deforestation and mitigating climate change. The program 
(2016 - 2018) stimulates sustainable energy use, energy 
efficiency and increased carbon absorption capacity. In the 
first year of the project, 600 households introduced agro-
forestry and low carbon farming techniques. Through such 
sustainable land management efforts, local communities 
are able to extra income from carbon funds and consolidate 
their land rights. 

Young entrepreneurs raise their 
business game 

The ‘Building Protection by Empowering People in 

Latin America’ program (2012 - 2016) offers business 

and advocacy training and startup assistance to around 

12,300 youth and women in rural and urban communi-

ties of Nicaragua, El Salvador, Honduras, Guatemala and 

Colombia. By the end of 2016, 4,546 young people had 

strengthened their entrepreneurial skills and participated 

in income generating activities, either in their own busi-

nesses or in formal employment. 447 startups received 

seed capital. 7,402 young women and men participated in 

lobby and advocacy initiatives to improve youth’s access 

to sustainable livelihoods. In Nicaragua for example,  

program’s participants created a civic youth movement to 

promote a job policy for youth in Nicaragua.   

Idalia Margarita Jirón (31 years old) is a vegetable 

producer from a rural community of the Suchitoto munici-

pality in El Salvador. “This program allowed me to participate 
in training on business administration and on business planning. 
My mother and I have been producing vegetables and fruits, 
but needed a professional collection center with certain health 
and sanity conditions to make it possible to sell our products to 
large buyers. The program helped us make the business plan to 
build and manage this center. This helps me to fulfill my dream 
of becoming a solid producer and to access better market 
opportunities”.

Watch the short movie ‘Building protection 

by Empowering young People in El Salvador’

youtube.com/iccocooperation



29

“Down to Zero”
‘Combating Commercial Sexual Exploitation’ (Down to Zero) 
is a new ICCO project that works with children at risk of 
sexual exploitation. Launched in 2016, the project is modeled 
on the ‘Movimiento Vuela Libre’ program that has been 
implemented in Bolivia, Colombia, Nicaragua, Paraguay and 
Peru since 2014. The project organizes training and aware-
ness sessions for children, community members, civil society 
organizations, government, judiciary officials and private 
sector staff. In Bolivia 1,300 children have been trained and 
sensitized on how to avoid commercial sexual exploitation, 
and 143 potential leaders have been identified. In Colombia 
950 children and 63 companies in Bogotá participated 
in training activities. In Peru an advocacy document was 
presented to the government, and about 40 companies were 
trained. In Nicaragua, 48 children and adolescents from five 
communities were sensitized, as well as 35 public officials 
and 40 employees of the Barceló company.

Civic Engagement Alliances kicks off
In 2016, the Civic Engagement Alliance’s Strategic 
Partnership program (see page 82) launched its activities 
in Bolivia and Central America. The program focuses on 

creating opportunities for youth and on stimulating food 
and nutrition security. Implementation plans were devel-
oped together with partners, and data have been gathered 
to inform and strengthen lobby and advocacy efforts. In 
Guatemala, for example, the program aims to stimulate the 
adoption of the Youth Law, which has been under public 
discussion for several years.

LATIN AMERICA: LESSONS LEARNED

In 2016 ICCO’s new role took shape in Latin America. We 
are learning that programs that blend investments in local 
enterprises and donor funding have a greater chance of 
success, as proved by the continued growth of the Manq’a 
cooking schools in Colombia and Bolivia. The business 
model will be expanded and replicated in other countries. 
ICCO has established a social enterprise in Bolivia to facili-
tate innovative financing for the project and plans to launch 
similar enterprises in Colombia and Central America. 
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I
n Israel and the Occupied Palestinian Territories ICCO 
moved from the previous broad orientation on a rights-
based policy towards economic empowerment of the 
poorer sections of the Palestinian population. We focused 

on small- and medium-sized enterprise (SME) development, 
while continuing to cooperate with ACT Alliance members 
in the Middle East region. 

Our emergency programs in the other countries in the 
Middle East responded to the refugee crisis in the region 
through the Dutch Relief Alliance and the ACT Alliance. 
Disaster recovery activities were geared towards long-term 
solutions by exploring opportunities for young refugees 
and members of host communities to earn an income from 
providing services to refugees. Such efforts further aimed to 
contribute towards rebuilding the resilience and livelihoods 
of host communities and refugees living in their midst. For 
example, ICCO’s Agribusiness Booster explored possible 
entry points for offering capital and business development 
services in support of these initiatives. 

Humanitarian assistance in Iraq
Iraq is in a state of permanent crisis following years of 
warfare. Thousands of citizens have been forced to flee their 
homes and livelihoods. ICCO provided support to more 

than 17,000 displaced people, which included life-saving 
assistance, access to essential services and tools to restore 
their self-sufficiency and enhance their resilience. While 
the results for different areas were mixed, we exceeded our 
targets on average. We helped to improve the food security 
of 866 households, as well as the housing conditions of 1,428 
people. The project also succeeded in restoring safe drinking 
water sources for 10,500 people. Finally 546 households 
received support to establish income-generating activities.

Middle East
Our activities in the Middle East region in 2016 primarily focused on emergency response, with 
the exception of one business development program in the Occupied Palestinian Territories.

Amman

Indicator Result 2016

Emergency Response

Households with improved food security 40,486

People reached with improved housing conditions 11,553

People using improved sanitation facilities 11,900

Indicators and results

Expenditure 
per theme

 Emergency Response
Syria crisis response appeal 

The war in Syria 

broke out in 2011. 

ICCO supported 

the ACT Alliance to 

provide live- saving 

aid worth over 

EUR 1.4 million 

to 21,000 Syrian 

refugees. Through 

our network of 

local churches we were able to reach some of the more 

remote areas in the country. By the end September 2016 we 

were distributing monthly food parcels to 7,140 persons in 

Aleppo, Hama and the environs of Damascus. Furthermore 

151 households received a three-month rental support, 

equivalent to US$ 200 per month.
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PHOTO STORY

At the community’s doorstep
The aim of the Profitable Opportunities for Food Security (PROOFS) project is 

to contribute to improved food and nutrition security, as well as access to water, 

sanitation and hygiene services for 80,000 households living in poverty in southwest 

and northwest Bangladesh. The project works to strengthen farmers’ capacities to 

produce more and better quality products. It also ensures that smallholder producers 

have better access to markets, and a stronger position within agrifood value chains, 

thus helping to sustain their livelihoods in the long term.

Lovely Begun

Lovely Begum is a resident 

of a riverine island in Barisal, 

one of the largest river ports 

in Bangladesh. She became a 

PROOFS nutrition sales agent 

in February 2015. Each month, 

Lovely sells products worth 

around 53,000 BDT (EUR 600) 

to meet the demand for products 

such as sanitary napkins, Monimix 

(micronutrient powders for 

children), and oral saline and zinc 

tablets. Lovely has managed to 

recover	her	livelihood	after	floods	

washed away her promising 

vegetable garden in 2014. She has 

invested some of her earnings to 

re-establish vegetable production 

on a leased piece of land measur-

ing eight decimals (around 300 

square meters). She has also a 

purchased one-decimal of land to 

expand her agricultural produc-

tion.	Lovely	has	finally	found	some	

stability in her life.
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PROOFS is implemented by ICCO 
Cooperation, iDE, Edukans and the 
BoP Innovation Center, with funding 
from the Embassy of the Kingdom of 
the Netherlands in Bangladesh.

Abdulla Al Mamum

Majhar Char is a riverine island 

in the Megha River of Southern 

Bangladesh. The island is under 

water for six to seven months 

each year. When the water 

recedes, hundreds of farmers 

cultivate vegetables on the 

fertile soil. PROOFS supports 

the farmers to change their 

production and post-harvest 

practices to maximize their 

production and increase their 

income. The catalyst of this 

change is Abdullah Al Mamun, a 

farm business advisor, selected 

and trained by PROOFS. 

Mamun has developed linkages 

with buyers in Dhaka, enabling 

him to track market demand 

and ensure the best prices for 

farmers. During the summer 

vegetable season, he aggregates 

at least 20,000 kg of cucumber, 

bitter gourd and snake gourd on 

Majhar Char every day, which 

he sends by boat and truck to 

Dhaka market.

Southern districts
• Barisal
• Bhola
• Patuakhali

North-West districts
• Gaibandha
• Kurigram
• Nilphamari
• Rangpur
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03 Organization Cooking schools for Latin 

American youths in gastronomy 

and food businesses.

Photo: ICCO
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DEVELOPMENT

The reorganization document ‘Future Proofing ICCO 2016-
2018’ (2015) stated that 2016 and 2017 would be transition 
years for ICCO. One of the main features of this transition 
was making the shift from a funding organization that was 
dependent on grants from the Dutch government, towards a 
(co)- implementer of projects financed by multiple donors. 
Another important shift was the focus on fewer themes in 
order to consolidate our expertise and niche.

Structure
By the end of 2015, most of the internal restructuring 
needed to drive the new organization was complete. It 
included putting in place new administrative and fund 
management systems,  reducing the number of staff in 
the global office and regional offices, and further decen-
tralizing and strengthening our structures for financial 
accountability. 

One of the main challenges that we faced in this internal 
consolidation process was how to merge three previously 
autonomous units at the global office: the Strategy & Policy 
department; the Fundraising, Marketing Communication 
unit; and the Planning, Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning 
(PMEL) unit. Would it be possible to establish a new team 
comprising so many specialisms? And how could we create 
added value for the organization? 

In retrospect we can conclude that this challenging process 
worked out well. We now have three multifunctional 
sub-teams, organized around three thematic focus areas. 
The reorganization also included a further decentralization 
of the global organization, especially with regard to financial 
responsibility. This required bringing on board strong finan-
cial controllers for each of the regional offices, which in turn 
created an opportunity to undertake a thorough review of 
our systems for financial accountability.

Regional offices
In the regional offices, existing staff had to be reduced to 
allow for the recruitment of program staff to support ICCO’s 
new focus on project implementation. By the end 2016 ICCO 
was operating in 50 countries in four regions: Africa, Asia, 
Latin America, and the Middle East. 

In addition to staff changes, ICCO’s regional programs have 
been further streamlined to reflect the strategic focus on 
three priority themes and fewer countries. The regional and 
country offices have also made the transition from grant 
managers to program co-implementers. 

A new development at regional level was the establishment 
of a Middle East office in Amman, Jordan. Meanwhile, the 
regional offices for Southern Africa, and Central and Eastern 
Africa, successfully merged in 2016. This has created two 
regional programs on the continent, helping to broaden the 
program base as well as the expertise set of the team. One 
office in Kampala for Central, Eastern and Southern Africa 
and the other one for West Africa is located in Bamako, Mali. 
The Latin America region consists of three sub-regional 
offices in Bolivia, Colombia and Nicaragua.  

ICCO USA
ICCO USA is a non-profit corporation established in April 
2015 to link ICCO Cooperation with North American 
governments and corporate sector donors. In 2016 an agri-
business conference was organized at the Dutch embassy 
in Washington. By the end of 2016 we had established part-
nerships with, among others, the United States Agency for 
International Development (USAID), Mastercard Foundation 
and the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB).

Legal structure 
The ICCO organization is now structured via various 
legal entities under the brand name ICCO Cooperation, 
namely: Coöperatie ICCO U.A., Foundation ICCO and the 
ICCO Group B.V. with the sub-companies Fair & Sustainable 
Participations, Fair & Sustainable Advisory Services, 
FairClimateFund, ICCO Investments and Agribusiness 
Booster. The members of the Executive Board of ICCO 
Foundation are the same members as of Coöperatie ICCO U.A. 
via the articles of association.” Coöperatie ICCO U.A. is 100% 
owner of the ICCO Group B.V., including the sub-companies. 
The Executive Board therefore oversees all legal entities of 
ICCO Cooperation. The member of the Executive Board is 
director of the ICCO Group B.V.

In chapter 6 page 74  you will find an overview of ICCO’s legal 
entities in the world. 
‘ICCO in Control’

Organization
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We asked PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) to 
audit our control systems. They advised us to 
start with an organization-wide trajectory to 
better align our systems and processes. We called 
this process ‘ICCO in Control,’ and all departments 
and regional offices were involved in this impor-
tant project to prepare for the “Post-2017”era. 

Three main projects were established under the 
trajectory: ‘ICCO Core Expertise,’ ‘What you need 
to know about ICCO’ and ‘How we do our busi-
ness.’ Each project pillar contained a number of 
sub-projects. 
By the end of 2016 all project groups had 

I. ICCO core expertise

• Matrix

• Fundraising strategy 

and plan

• Knowledge 

management

• Operationali zation 

of the MASP

• Governance and 

management 

structure

• Project mangement

• Staff competences 

and skills

• Knowledge sharing

• Planning and control 

cycle

• Regional control 

function

II. What you need  
to know about ICCO

III. How we do  
our business

I ORGANIZATION CHART
COOPERATIVE

EXECUTIVE BOARD
+ SUPPORT OFFICE

REGIONAL COUNCILS

REGIONAL OFFICES

LATIN AMERICA

WEST AFRICA

CENTRAL, EASTERN & 
SOUTHERN AFRICA

SOUTH EAST 
ASIA & PACIFIC

SOUTH & CENTRAL ASIA

GLOBAL OFFICE

SUPERVISORY BOARD

SHARED SERVICE CENTER

INTERNATIONAL PROGRAMS

CORPORATE STRATEGY & 
EXTERNAL RELATIONS 

Human Resources

Information Technology

Finance & Control

II MAP OF REGIONS AND COUNTRIES
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Harare, Zimbabwe
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Kigali, Rwanda

Nairobi, Kenya

Bujumbura, Burundi

Juba, South Sudan

Addis Abeba, Ethiopia

Asunción,
Paraguay

SOUTH EAST ASIA & PACIFIC  
DENPASAR, INDONESIA

Pretoria, South Africa

CENTRAL, EASTERN
& SOUTHERN AFRICA
KAMPALA, UGANDA 
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www.icco-cooperation.org
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78 79
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delivered their reports, paving the way for implementing 
the whole ‘ICCO in Control’ project in 2017. Besides this 
comprehensive project we also made the transition to a 
new enterprise resource planning (ERP) system that is 
better suited to our new organization. Further, we devel-
oped the new monitoring and evaluation tool ProMEva, 
which will be invaluable in presenting our results and 
data in an  attractive and transparent way (see Chapter 
1 page 12). Last but not least, we embarked on a major 
transition from the familiar Microsoft Office environment 
to using Google Apps.

STAFF

Workforce
In 2016 we continued the implementation of ‘ICCO 
Restructuring 2014 – 2016,’ while also embarking on the 
reorganization plan ‘Future Proofing ICCO 2016 – 2018.’ As 
a result, eight staff members in the global office lost their 
job.  A social plan was activated to ensure adequate arrange-
ments for the redundant employees.  

As part of the process of adapting to the new program 
environment, 2016 was also a period of  adjusting our core 
competencies towards a greater focus on external aware-
ness, and an entrepreneurial and results-driven mindset. 
We adjusted the Employee Performance Review in order to 
better monitor the development in competencies of staff. 
Furthermore, we encouraged individual staff members to 
better formulate their development needs during bilateral 
meetings with a mobility coach. 

At the beginning of the year, 74 employees had a position at 
the global office in Utrecht. This number had gone down to 
60 by the end of 2016. Table 4 provides an overview of the 
staff situation as per 31 December 2016,  excluding interns 
and staff with 0-hour.  

At the regional level staff numbers went down from 289 at the 
beginning of the year to 252 employees at the close of 2016. 

Interns and volunteers
In 2016 ICCO offered internship positions to 25 trainees. 
Most of the interns worked in the IT, and Corporate Strategy 
and External Relations departments.  

Works Council
In the course of 2016 ICCO’s international and Dutch works 
councils merged into a joint Corporate Works Council, total-
ing eight members by the end of the year. These members 
represented all staff of the Foundation ICCO in regular 
formal meetings with the Executive Board. At the regional 
level, small staff representations functioned as works coun-
cils in the presence of the regional managers. The most 
important topic of the council meetings was the implemen-
tation of reorganization plans made in 2015. 

The financial situation of the organization was also 
discussed on several occasions, in meetings with the 
Executive Board, the Supervisory Board and with staff in 
regional offices and at the global office.

At the close of the year, with elections at global office just 
two weeks ahead, it turned out that there were not enough 
candidates available for a full legal representation in 2017. 
Yet, some form of a non-compulsory representation of staff 
will remain as all parties underline its importance.

LEARNING ORGANIZATION

Policies
Since its inception, ICCO has implemented clear interna-
tional policies for the prevention of wrongful conduct. All 
staff members with regular and temporary contracts, as 
well as consultants and partners are required to sign a 
contract indicating that they will adhere to these codes.

Policies that are currently in place are:
• ACT Alliance Code of Conduct for the prevention of sexual 

exploitation and abuse, fraud and corruption, and abuse 
of power (since 02-05-2010, revised in 2012).

• Code of Conduct for the International Red Cross and Red 
Crescent Movement (ICRC) and NGOs in relief (since 
02-05-2010, revised in 2012).

• ICCO and Kerk in Actie Child Safeguarding Policy (since 
2016), guided by the ACT Alliance. 

Child protection policy
In 2016 there were no reported violations, or suspicions 
thereof, of the child protection policy.

Fraud & corruption policy
Under the auspices of the ACT Alliance Code of Conduct 
for the prevention of sexual exploitation and abuse, fraud 
and corruption and abuse of power,’ ICCO implements its 

Number of 
employees FTE

Global Office

Employees per 31-12-2015 74 66.7

New employees in 2016 8 6.9

Out of service in 2016 22 18.9

Employees per 31-12-2016 60 54.7

Average 2016 67 60.6

N.B. Data are excluding volunteers, 0-hour contractants, interns, ICCO Group B.V., 
and Dutch expats.

Regional Offices

Employees per 31-12-2015 289 289

New employees in 2016 82 82

Out of service in 2016 124 124

Employees per 31-12-2016 252 247

Average 2016 270.5 270.5

Total 312 306.4

N.B. Regional managers and Dutch expats are included in the number of employees 
per the end of the year.

Table 4: Employees per 31-12-2016
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own ‘Fraud and Financial Incapacity Procedure.’ We try to 
prevent fraud and corruption by: a) closely monitoring; and 
b) abiding by strict contracting procedures which stipulate 
releasing installments of the fund only after receiving sound 
financial and narrative reports. 

In 2016 we detected four cases of fraud and financial inca-
pacity. Three cases were handled correctly in accordance 
with our procedures. The three cases broadly involved 
disagreement between ICCO and the partner organization 
regarding non compliance about the implementation and 
deliverables as laid down in the contract. The unaccounted 
for funds were subsequently recovered. In the final case, the 
partner went to court.

In addition to these codes of conduct, we have the following 
policies:
• Anti-bribery policy (2015)
• Corporate social responsibility (CSR) policy (2014)

Complaints
ICCO has a complaints and appeals system which is acces-
sible via the website (www.icco-cooperation.org) for all 
our stakeholders and partners. Apart from one appeal filed 
by a former partner organization, there were no further 
complaints and appeals lodged in 2016. 

Safety and Security
The policy of transferring security responsibilities to the 
regional offices continued in 2016. The global office now 
functions as a service and advice desk for the decentralized 
organization. Cooperation with the ACT Alliance and other 
(Dutch) development and relief organizations increased 
during the year. 

In 2016 a new version of the Safety & Security policy was 
developed, reflecting our obligation to provide increased 
duty of care and liability jurisprudence. This is in line with 
a recent verdict at the European level and the Pels-Rijcken 
report in the Netherlands. 

Various security trainings were provided in the Netherlands 
and abroad. 151 staff members of ICCO and related organ-
izations participated in one-day safety & security training 
sessions for new staff and refresher training for old staff.  
Regular three to five day Safety & Security trainings were 
provided to ICCO staff members of regional and country 
offices in Bangladesh, Mali, Nicaragua, El Salvador, India, 
and Uganda. In Uganda a newly developed Security Focal 
Point training was implemented for 14 focal points from 
various ICCO and ACT Alliance members in Central and 
Eastern Africa in collaboration with ACT. 

The number of officially reported incidents was less than in 
past years. 14 security incidents, including health cases during 
traveling and upon return to the Netherlands, were formally 
reported. Car accidents, theft of laptops, mobile phones and 
other valuables, threats and sexual harassment etc. were 

reported at regional level. The most serious incident was the 
evacuation of staff from South Sudan due to continuing mili-
tary and political tensions. Moreover, the security situation in 
Burundi, South Sudan, Ethiopia, Pakistan, Bangladesh, Mali 
and the Middle East region greatly deteriorated. The oper-
ational program management is increasingly challenged by 
security incidents and threats in complex situations.

IT
ICCO’s IT systems were renewed in 2016, partly to be rolled-
out in 2017, as part of efforts to “future proof” and support 
entrepreneurship in the organization. The transition also 
aimed to support a greater focus on results and collabora-
tion with multiple stakeholders. 

One of the changes made during the year was the switch 
from MicroSoft Dynamics to a new ERP system for account-
ing and donor management. Rather than investing the 
substantial resources required to replace the outdated MSD, 
ICCO chose to reduce costs by moving to the system already 
being used by the Protestant Church in the Shared Service 
Center. The system is connected to the project monitoring 
application, Promeva.

In another major IT change, we bid farewell to Microsoft 
Office in favor of Google applications. During the year, we 
successfully migrated our data to the Google cloud and 
embarked on a gradual process of guiding staff in the use 
of the new system. Much attention was paid to transfer-
ring knowledge and creating the mindset of a totally new 
concept through training, workshops, films, information 
desk and a special help site. Looking back on this process, it 
is clear that ICCO has not only saved costs, but just as impor-
tantly, we have created an environment in which the flexibil-
ity, entrepreneurship and independence of the organization 
and staff have increased considerably.

In 2016 also preparations were made to set up a new portal 
for the internal organization to share knowledge and news. 
This smart portal will be launched in 2017, allowing each 
user to customize his or her desktop to their personal needs.

Quality and audit
In 2016 ICCO retained the ISO/Partos 9001:2008 standard. 
External ISO audits were held in three regional offices and 
the global office. 

Internal audit subjects were selected via a multi-annual risk 
based audit plan, approved by the Executive Board and the 
Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board. 
In 2016, 28 internal audits were implemented.  Four of 
these audits were complete system audits of regional 
offices, while nine audits were so-called ‘Future Proofing’ 
audits. Future proofing is a new governance tool used to 
determine if managers of regional offices or department are 
adequately preparing for the future. The other 15 internal 
audits focused on specific procedures. The unit Quality and 
Audit Services also verified the effectiveness of follow up of 
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61 recommendations by previous audits. 

Another new activity in 2016 was the use of demand-driven 
audits or other assignments at the request of regional 
offices or departments, which are paid for from program 
funds. One such audit assignment was implemented on the 
AgriSkills4You program. In preparation for further assign-
ments, a performance auditing manual was developed and 
plans were made to pilot this instrument in 2017.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

In 2016 our CSR policy continued to be implemented 
as part of our overall policy.

Financial Policy
Sound financial management is necessary to achieve ICCO’s 
mission and ensure good stewardship of our resources. 
It also ensures financial accountability and transparency 
towards back donors, and contributes to the sustainability 
of our programs in the long run. In 2016, we continued to 
work with our partners to ensure adherence to sound finan-
cial management throughout the program cycle.

Treasury
Our treasury policy seeks to ensure that our investment port-
folio meets a set of sustainability criteria that measure the 
level of effort invested in achieving results. Our global office 
is required to invest in an average of 25% shares (minimum 
of 15% and maximum of 35%) and 75% euro denominated 
bonds (minimum of 65% and maximum of 85%). The invest-
ment portfolio with the ING Bank is termed the most sustain-
able portfolio, based on a ranking of companies or funds 
invested when compared to other companies in the same 
sector along more than hundred non-financial indicators 
(NFI) on social and environmental responsibility. At the end 
of 2016, based on this NFI-score, the bank rated 95% of the 
companies in ICCO’s portfolio as a strong leader or leader on 
social and environmental responsibility in the sector.

Climate neutrality
Our CO2 emissions decreased by 9% compared to 2015. This 
result was based on data collected throughout all regional 
offices and the global office, which covered business travel, 
office use and commuting. FairClimateFund B.V. then 
merged this data and calculated the carbon emissions. The 
sum of all emissions, 1,643 tonnes of CO2   (equivalent to 7.5 
million car kilometers), have been offset with Gold Standard 

carbon credits from the Basa Magogo project in South 
Africa. To reduce the same amount of CO2, a total 1,260 
families used the Basa Magogo improved cooking method 
for cleaner cooking and heating for a year. This not only 
helped them to introduce more sustainable cooking and 
heating techniques, but also to improve their living condi-
tions and reduce fuel expenditures.

Sustainable office management
ICCO rents offices from the Services Organization of the 
Protestant Church in the Netherlands. The joint policy aims 
to reduce CO2 emissions through, inter alia, savings on 
energy, using green energy, encouraging paperless meetings 
and environmentally friendly packaging. Measures taken 
in 2015, such as installing a solar collector in the kitchen, 
fewer hours of outdoor lighting and additional charging 
stations for electric cars, took effect. The interior of the 
office was renovated in 2016, thereby reducing the number 
of workplaces. Additionally, paperless meetings greatly 
increased with the use of IT programs and the facilitation of 
flexible working. Since mobility is the biggest cause of CO2 
emissions ICCO has put in place a telework arrangement 
and promotes the use of bicycles. There is also a remuner-
ation travel policy based on public transport. Flying is criti-
cally assessed.

Emission source 
2016

 Business travel (77%)

  Commuting (13%)

	Office	(9%)
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04 Accountability 
statement

Data collection with gsm 

after earthquake in Nepal.

Photo Arie Kievit
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I
CCO Foundation has carried the “seal” of the Central Bureau 
on Fundraising (CBF) since 1 January 2012.  In 2016 the 
CBF converted its system into an accreditation system, 
under which ICCO was reviewed and recognized as a char-

ity. Unlike most CBF-qualified organizations, which raise funds 
from individuals, we are not a traditional charity. However, we 
are proud of being recognized by the CBF because we want 
to show accountability to our donors -  such as the Nationale 
Postcode Loterij,  as well as the Dutch public - by demonstrat-
ing that we follow the Code Wijffels for Good Governance.

An important condition for the qualification of the CBF is 
this annual ‘Accountability Statement’ in which we elaborate 
on principles of good governance for charitable organiza-
tions with regard to the separation of managing, executing 
and monitoring in three parts.

SEPARATION OF MONITORING, 
MANAGEMENT AND EXECUTION 

In 2016, we redesigned our cooperative structure. Our 
cooperation in the Coöperatie ICCO U.A. with members 
Edukans, Prisma, Kerk in Actie and Wilde Ganzen and ICCO 
being the cooperative itself, continued in a different way in 
the new formed cooperative called ‘PerspActive’ of which 
ICCO is now one of the members (see page 8). 
The statutes of ICCO Foundation are very much linked with 
the statutes of Coöperatie ICCO U.A. They have an identical 
mission and objective and a “personele unie” is arranged 
between the Executive Board of the cooperative and the 
Executive Board of ICCO Foundation. The Supervisory 
Board of Coöperatie ICCO U.A. oversees the Executive Board 
and approves the annual report of ICCO Foundation. ICCO 
Foundation is - in other words - completely under the 
governance and control of Coöperatie ICCO U.A. 

Executive Board
The Executive Board consists of two directors, a chairman 
and a member. The Executive Board oversees the Global 

Office (Utrecht) and the five regional offices. It manages 
ICCO, with due observance of the interests of the inter-
ested parties. In that respect the board members shall be 
responsible for determining and realizing the objectives and 
continuity of ICCO and for compliance with the legislation 
and regulations that apply. In the fulfilment of its task the 
board makes effective use of the advisory function of the 
Supervisory Board.

The Executive Board shall focus, inter alia, on the following 
areas:
(i) the realization of the objectives of ICCO 
(ii)  the spending of resources in an efficient and effective 

manner
(iii)  fundraising methods that are efficient, effective and 

appropriate
(iv) treating volunteers with due care, and
(v)  a professional and adequate functioning of the 

organization

According to the statutes, the Executive Board is responsible 
for the tasks as described above. However, the Executive 
Board executes its tasks in consultation with the team of 
regional managers and managers in the global office. In 
principle, the Executive Board meets every week. The team 
of managers and the Executive Board meets face-to-face 
three times a year over one week.

Task division within the Executive Board
Chair of the Executive Board: acts as chair, is figurehead, is 
responsible for all external, corporate communication and is 
first responsible for all the acting of ICCO. Besides, the chair 
has his own portfolio as agreed between the members of the 
Executive Board.

Member of the Executive Board: is responsible for the complete 
internal management of the global office and the regional 
offices. In case of absence of the chair, replacing the chair.
Members of the Executive Board are appointed by the 
Supervisory Board. 

Accountability
statement
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Marinus Verweij -  Chair

• Board member ICCO USA

• ACT EU treasurer

• Member Supervisory Board Human Cities Coalition

• Member EUcord

• Chair of the Board PerspActive

• Member World Connectors

• Member Supervisory Board Christelijk Sociaal Congres

• Chair of the Supervisory Board LuciVer Nursing home

• Chairman of the International Christian Medical and 

Dental Association Trust (UK)

• Vice-chair of the Durlstone Zimbabwe Foundation

• Chairman Supervisory Board of Medrie

Wim Hart - Member

• Board member Capital4Development Fund

• Board member ACT Alliance

• Member Supervisory Board New World Campus

• Board member NpM

• Board member AgriProFocus

• Member Supervisory Board B&C International B.V.

• Board member Foundation GBYH

• Board member Foundation Holland Moldava

• Member Advisory Board Schagen

Composition and Ancillary Positions Executive Board

Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board consists of five people. The members 
are drawn from the constituency and the network of ICCO. 
The composition shall be such that there is a balance in 
expertise and origin. Statutory rules to prevent conflicts 
of interest apply to both the Executive Board and the 
Supervisory Board. Annually, the general lines of the executed 
policy of the Executive Board are discussed in a joint meeting 
with the Supervisory Board. 

An audit and a remuneration committee support the 
Supervisory Board. Members of the Supervisory Board are 
appointed by the General Assembly.

The Supervisory Board has the following tasks:
• To pro-actively and retroactively supervise the policy of 

the Executive Board and the general run of affairs within 
the cooperative and the enterprise linked to it. 

• To support the Executive Board with advice upon request 
or otherwise, inclusive of an annual evaluation of individ-
ual board members and the board as a whole.

• To appoint, suspend and dismiss members of the 
Executive Board.

In fulfilling their task, the Supervisory Board members shall 
be guided by the interests of ICCO. Each Supervisory Board 
member must be able to operate independently and critically 
towards the other Supervisory Board members, the board 
and any partial interest whatsoever. 

Meetings Supervisory Board
The future of the cooperative was the item most frequently 
discussed within the Supervisory Board in 2016. Due to the 
major changes in the external environment and the ending 
of the co-financing framework with the Dutch government, 
the membership of the ICCO cooperative felt the architecture 
of the legal entity needed to be adjusted. Already in January 

the Supervisory Board discussed the so-called handshake 
document, the preliminary agreement to transform the 
ICCO cooperative. This resulted in October in the estab-
lishment of a new cooperative, called ‘PerspActive’ with 
ICCO as a member in its own right. In this new model there 
is more room for programmatic cooperation between the 
members and there will be better opportunities for resource 
mobilization. 

The Supervisory Board held four regular meetings in 2016, 
with two extra meetings also taking place. The second extra 
meeting, held in December, discussed scenarios for ICCO’s 
future and for strategic cooperation with other organizations 
in the field of development cooperation. Issues addressed 
during the regular meetings of the Supervisory Board 
included reviews of the financial statements, the budget for 
2017 and the annual report. In January 2016 Marry de Gaay 
Fortman stepped down as member of the Supervisory Board 
and was replaced by Albert Knigge. Albert is partner corpo-
rate litigation at Houthoff Buruma. With his legal knowledge 
and experience the legal capacity within the Supervisory 
Board is adequately covered. 

Advisory bodies
Advisory bodies support the Executive Board in the develop-
ment of our strategy. They have an important position but are 
not part of the formal governance structure. The Executive 
Board is advised by Regional Councils in three continents 
with respect to the strategic choices of the organization and 
the preparation and evaluation of the regional annual plans. 
These Regional Councils are composed of people from the 
region who are independent and have expertise in one or 
more areas relevant to the organization. Furthermore the 
Executive Board is advised by the Corporate Works Council. 
On the level of international advice the Executive Board seeks 
advice from experts in our international network.  
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Ir. J.F. de Leeuw - Chair and chair Remuneration Committee 
(term ends January 2021)
• Chairman CTGB (College Toelating gewasbeschermingsmid-

delen en Biociden)

• ABDTOP Consultant (Algemene Bestuursdienst)

• Ancillary positions:

• Member of the Board of the Abraham Kuyperfonds
• Chair Supervisory Board Qua Wonen (Krimpenerwaard) 

• Member Wageningen Ambassadors

• Chairman Foundation IZZ

• Member of the Advisory Board of Staatsbosbeheer.

• Member of the Board of Stichting Beheer LZ Agro 
Kwaliteitsborging

Drs. W.  Oosterom - Member, member Audit Committee and 
member Remuneration Committee (term ends January 2021)
• Consultant Oosterom Advies B.V.

Ancillary positions:

• Member Supervisory Board and Audit Committee Reinier 
Haga Groep

• Member Supervisory Board Instituut Verantwoord 
Medicijngebruik (until 1 July 2016)

• Member Supervisory Board and Chairman Audit 

Committee Stichting Rivierduinen.

• Chairman Audit Commissie Federatie Medisch Specialisten
• Treasurer Protestantse Gemeente Amersfoort 

• Treasurer Zeekadetkorps Nederland 

Prof. dr. G. van Dijk – Member and chair Audit Committee  
(term ends January 2020)
• Professor Social Venturing Economics & Cooperative 

Entrepreneurship, TIAS, Tilburg University

• Visiting professor Agribusiness Management, 

International Center for Advanced Mediterranean 

Agronomic Studies (Chania, Greece)

• Managing Director The Netherlands Institute for 

Cooperative Entrepreneurship

Ancillary positions:

• Member Advisory Board BergToys B.V.

• Member Governing Board Metgezel Beheer B.V.
• Member Advisory Board Schuiteman Accountants

• Chair Member Council PGGM

• Chair	Foundation	Rabobank	Certificates

• Chair KIC! Kennis en Innovatie Cooperatieve Creatieve 
Industrie u.a.

Mrs. R. Powell Mandjes - Member  (term ends January 2018)
• Principal, Powell Mandjes Associates

Ancillary positions:

• Member of the Corporation of the Woods Hole 

Oceanographic Institution

• Chair of ICCO USA

Mr. A. Knigge - Member (term ends January 2020)
• Partner Corporate litigation – Houthoff Buruma

Ancillary positions: 

• Member of the Board of Trustees of Research Centre 

Onderneming & Recht
• Member of the Board of Trustees of Zuidas Master (Vrije 

Universiteit / Universiteit van Amsterdam)
• Treasurer of the Nederlandse Vereniging voor Procesrecht 

and the Stichting Procesrecht

Composition and Ancillary 
Positions Supervisory Board
Photo: From left to right: Van Dijk, Knigge, Powell Mandjes, Oosterom, De Leeuw.
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OPTIMAL SPENDING OF FUNDS

We invest in instruments to determine the effectiveness of 
the expenditure of our organization in the following ways:

Management information system
ICCO has identified its programmatic, financial and oper-
ational results and indicators, including budget control. 
These results and indicators are monitored regularly 
(monthly, quarterly, semesterly and/or annually). Current 
figures are compared with budget/planned figures. These 
are further analysed and provided with recommendations.  
Reports are discussed in the Executive Board and the 
Management Team (amongst others through management 
contracts and monthly monitoring) and taken into account 
for the strategic and annual plan, annual and semester 
reports and financial reports. 

Risk analysis and Internal audits
ICCO Cooperation has identified strategic risks, resulting 
in a risk top 10. The relevance of the top 10 is reviewed 
annually (see also chapter 6). An internal audit program 
based on this risk analysis is approved by the Executive 
Board and Audit Committee on an annual basis. It covers 
all processes (primary processes, support processes and 
governance processes) with a focus on high risk areas, and 
includes on-site audits of a selection of regional and country 
offices. The audits are implemented by the internal audit 
team and result in reports to the Executive Board and the 
Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board, with recommen-
dations for improvement. Implementation of these improve-
ments is monitored every four months. 

ISO 9001:2008 certification
ICCO Cooperation is certified with the ISO 9001:2008 
standard and the Partos 9001 standard. The certificate 
includes the five regional offices of ICCO Cooperation.  Each 
year external ISO audits take place in two to three regional 
offices and in the global office. In 2015 the certificate was 
renewed. In the final months of 2016, preparations started 
for the transfer to the new version of the ISO/Partos stand-
ard: 9001:2015, which will take place in 2017.

Annual financial audit
In compliance with Dutch financial law and with the regu-
lations of the MFS funding by the Dutch Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs, ICCO Cooperation is annually audited externally. 
As from 2014 our external auditor is Deloitte. All regional 
offices also have their own external financial audit accord-
ing to the International Accounting Standard (ISA). The 
auditors are approved annually by the Audit Committee of 
the Supervisory Board. The annual management letters are 
used to improve ICCO’s financial processes.

In connection with the approval of being a CBF qualified 
organization, external supervision is also exercised by the 
CBF.

Monitoring and evaluation system
In 2016 ICCO Cooperation developed a new monitoring and 
evaluation system, called ProMEva (Program Monitoring 
and Evaluation). Mobile data collection tools are increas-
ingly used to better analyze and  visualize program results 
(see Chapter 1, page 8). 

OPTIMAL RELATIONS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

ICCO strives for optimal relations with stakeholders, focus-
ing on disclosure and the intake and processing of requests, 
questions and complaints. The stakeholders of ICCO are 
the members of the cooperative PerspActive, the donors 
(e.g. the Ministry of Foreign Affairs), our partners in the 
several consortia that we participate in (such as the Civic 
Engagement Alliance), partner organizations, entrepreneurs 
and companies, the Dutch public (taxpayer) and the ulti-
mate beneficiaries of our programs.

The stakeholders are provided with information in various 
ways. Our aim is to (re)produce information that is accurate, 
complete, accessible and transparent:
• Website: Public information is provided via the renewed 

website www.icco-cooperation.org. The website provides 
project results linked to our monitoring protocol, topical 
information and news items of the worldwide work in 
Dutch, English and Spanish. 

• E-zines: sent 10 times a year to stakeholders. 
• Annual report and donor reports: besides this ICCO 

annual report, we produce annual reports to give account 
to our donors.  The annual report is posted on the website 
and also on request sent in hard copy to the constituency 
of ICCO. Additionally, donors (including ministries and 
the European Union) receive reports of the programs and 
projects to which they contribute. Entrepreneurs receive 
reports of projects in which they participate.

• Social media: On a daily basis ICCO communicates 
through LinkedIn, Twitter and Facebook. Also short films 
are posted on the ICCO Youtube channel.

• ICCO organizes two regular events for its constituencies: 
the Verkuyl Lecture and ‘Talks that Matter’. In 2016 we 
introduced the Partner Up events, which will be rolled out 
to the regions in 2017.

ICCO communicates internally mostly in English. General 
information about projects, activities and campaigns is also 
provided in Dutch (to Dutch constituency, Spanish (in Latin 
America) and French (in parts of Africa). We are open to 
ideas, comments, requests and complaints from stakehold-
ers. They can contact ICCO through various ways, for exam-
ple through the staff and the Executive Board, and through 
the email address info@icco-cooperation.org. A response 
form is also available on the website. Suggestions and 
requests are collected by our Service Desk and handled by 
the relevant employee for that topic. We have a complaints 
and appeals system which is accessible via the website www.
icco-cooperation.org  
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05 Financial 
review

INCOME

Total income for 2016 was EUR 43,637,795. 
Because the co-financing agreement with 
the Dutch government (MFSII 2011 - 2015) 
ended, the table shows an expected decline 
in revenues compared with previous years. 
Third party earnings increased for the third 
 consecutive year.

Expenditure by theme

  Food Security and Sustainable 
Consumption  
€ 8.5 million

  Economic Empowerment  
€ 12.0 million

  Responsible Business 
€ 4.3 million

  Emergency Response 
€ 6.9 million

  Other themes 
€ 6.7 million  

Actual 2016 Actual 2015 Actual 2014

€

Dutch government 19,606,322 55,165,789 71,976,419 

European Union subsidies 592,253 291,938   2,519,112

Income from third party campaigns 20,464,316 16,365,542   9,341,183

Other income 2,567,253 2,710,760   2,336,315

Investments income 349,342 324,040   831,830

Income from own fundraising activities 58,308 15,327   200,305

Total income 43,637,795 74,873,396 87,205,164

Actual 2016 Budget 2016 Actual 2015

€

Execution costs 22,375,235 16,215,439 28,355,071

  Less:  direct execution costs -13,934,962 -3,613,000 -14,761,639

Indirect Execution costs 8,440,273 9,133,013 13,593,432

  less: Revenues, by taxes and other income 2,956,320 -3,740,000 -2,977,165

Costs internal organization (A) 5,483,953 5,393,013 10,616,267

Total project payments (B) 36,884,388 37,625,085 54,666,690

Execution costs % 14.9% 12.5% 16.3%

2014 2015 2016

€ (×1,000)

Objectives 76,686 59,277 38,389

Fundraising 2,326 1,597 1,012

Management and administration 4,165 4,460 3,057

Total Expenditure 83,177 65,334 42,458

Fundraising costs as percentage of total expenditure 2.7% 2.4% 2,4%

Expenditure by appropriation 2014 - 2016

EXPENDITURE

In 2016 we spent EUR 38,388,876 to our objectives. ICCO Cooperation focuses 
more and more on four themes. Some projects can not be accommodated in 
any of the four themes and fall into ‘Other’, themes that relate to public space 
for civil society organizations, children at risk, women rights, HIV/Aids and 
conflict transformation projects. 

ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS

We saw in 2016 less project payments due 
to the lower income level.  On the other 
hand costs of the internal organization 
were reduced and ICCO managed to keep 
the execution costs ratio at 14.9%.
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06 Our 
future

In Madagascar we connect 

small farmers to markets 

to secure their livelihoods. 

Photo: Raymond Rutting
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D
uring the year we finalized the reorganization 
plan, adapting our organizational structure, 
processes and systems to the new reality. ICCO is 
ready to implement its strategic goals focusing on 

four main themes. We will do that in close relationship with 
our partners in the Netherlands (for example Kerk in Actie), 
Europe and beyond, on the basis of complementarity and 
scale-up potential. Our decentralized organizational model 
is an important asset. So too is our innovative approach as a 
social enterprise, linked to the companies of the ICCO Group. 

In 2017 creating more financial sustainability will be a key 
priority. Therefore we will make extra efforts in proactive 
fundraising in collaboration with public and corporate 
donors. We will also continue to explore ways to realize 
additional cost reductions in our operations.
 

RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management is about gaining a good understanding 
of the nature and scale of the risks in the organization. The 

next step is to put in place the right measures to mitigate 
the identified risks. 

ICCO Foundation has been using a form of explicit risk 
management since 2006. In 2016 risk management was a 
core part of the ‘ICCO in Control’ improvement project, which 
resulted in the integration of the risk management process in 
the planning and control cycle as well as in program manage-
ment. The project also delivered new tools to meet the 
requirements of the new ISO 9001: 2015 standard. 

Risks management is part of the planning and control 
cycle and is recorded in a register that is annexed to the 
annual plan. Monitoring with mitigation actions takes 
place through management information analyses that are 
conducted every four months.  Risks are identified and 
assessed at program, region or department and corporate/
strategic level. At the corporate level, risk analysis by the 
Executive Board is combined with a compilation of the 
underlying risks at the regional, which results in an over-
view of the main strategic risks. A selection of such risks is 
reported in the table below.

Our future
The reorganization plan ‘Future Proofing ICCO 2016-2018’ and our multi-annual strategic paper 
‘Strategy 2020: Towards a Just and Dignified World’ chart our future path. In 2016, ICCO Foundation 
took the first strides towards that new future.

Strategic risks 2016 (in no particular order)Mitigation actions 2017

The international competition for funds is growing.We	will	redefine	our	strategy,	focusing	on	four	themes	and	fewer	programs.	At	the	
local level we will take on the role of co-implementer with a distinct proposition. To 
remain	competitive	ICCO	delivers	added	value	with	a	range	of	financial	instruments.	
We will also diversify our funding to create a broader pool of donors and investors.

Non-compliance with requirements (with new types) of donors.Improvement measures are taken in the backbone system for accounting and 
donor management, including the creation of a compliance team and client audits. 

There is not enough capacity for effective resource mobilization. It is especially 
difficult	to	mobilize	matching	funds	and	funds	for	innovation,	organizational	
development and learning.

Appointing risk account managers responsible for managing relations with 
different donors and connecting them to thematic and fundraising specialists. 
More important donor relationships and visibility are built at different levels, 
from operational to board level.

The equity level of the organization is too low. During the many years of govern-
ment funding ICCO had only limited options to build up equity.

A focus on resource mobilization to build up reserves, while cutting costs wher-
ever possible.

Weak partner selection can lead to a failure of programs.Quality and effectiveness of cooperation agreements and contracts are better 
monitored with the use of updated checklists (o-scan) and a toolkit.

Inability	to	clearly	and	easily	report	on	track	record	using	data.	Qualified	data-
sets are needed for fact-based reporting and learning.

ICCO designs in-company ProMEva, an unique and innovative application to 
monitor impact. ProMEva will become the management information instrument 
for measuring progress on key performance indicators and goals.

The external environment is increasingly hostile and competitive. In general, the 
political and societal space across the countries and regions in which we work 
has been deteriorating over the last years. An example is the failed coup d’état 
and	terrorist	attacks	the	regional	office	in	Mali,	which	forced	us	to	temporarily	
close	our	offices,	and	making	it	difficult	to	achieve	our	program	objectives.

We sharpen the safety and security procedures for the whole organization and 
increased staff trainings. Further a special committee is installed to assist in 
registration issues. Lines of communication in cases of crises are shortened and 
we	are	now	more	flexible	in	our	structure	and	programs,	enabling	us	to	change	
direction if needed.

High turnover of staff with the risk of brain drain.We create a conducive work environment with positive incentives for staff, such 
as		certification.	In	general	staff	is	very	committed	to	what	ICCO	is	doing.		Brain	
drain is prevented with the establishment of a knowledge management system.
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PROGRAMS

We will further increase our role as a (co-) implementer of 
programs, and expand our blending ambitions, both with 
the ICCO Group companies, as well as between different 
programs. To better facilitate these combinations, ICCO 
will strengthen connections with Dutch and local SMEs and 
grow its social enterprise activities.

ICCO will continue to focus on projects linking food security 
to economic development, with the empowerment of women 
and youth as a unifying thread. Across our programs and part-
nerships we emphasize our added value, such as our knowl-
edge on public-private partnership, M4P approaches, the 
integration of financial tools, and specific value chains. Human 
rights and business aspects will get more attention and, where 
essential and achievable, we will link our disaster prepared-
ness and emergency response work to our economic develop-
ment programs. We will also seek to bring more focus in the 
countries we operate, by phasing out work in other countries.

The use of mobile technology in agriculture value chains is 
a promising innovation and great opportunity to improve 
food security and livelihoods in rural areas. ICCO will 
increasingly use enriched data to design, monitor, evaluate 
and improve programs.  We are especially keen to explore 
opportunities to replicate or expand successful programs 
and to cooperate with private sector partners. 

FINANCES 

The 2017 organizational cost budget is prudently based on 
the already secured income for 2017 and a part of income of 
which we are confident to achieve. The challenge in 2017 is 
to secure sufficient funds for the year and beyond, to be able 
to be fully operational at the current scale.

Continuity
Based on current secured and expected income the consoli-
dated budget shows a deficit of EUR 2.5 million. This shortage 
will  probably decrease during 2017 based on additionally 
generated income. If the increase in income is not sufficient 
the continuity reserve of the foundation is sufficient to cover 
the loss for the organization. For 2018 and the years beyond, 
we aim to reach a break-even result.

2017 2016

INCOME € €

Income from campaigns 17.694.984 21.028.206

Government grants 14.901.080 15.493.992

Income  from investments 200.000 240.000

Other income 5.031.659 6.197.355

Total income 37.827.723 42.959.553

EXPENSES

Spent on objectives 33.194.304 37.672.885

Fundraising costs 913.940 826.925

Management and administration 6.240.324 5.175.604

Total expenses 40.348.568 43.675.414

Result -2.520.845 -715.861

OPERATIONAL COSTS

Publicity and communication costs 1.592.744 558.951

Staff costs 14.049.106 11.698.685

Direct costs 2.310.448 1.135.537

Housing costs 762.143 843.174

Office	and	general	costs 2.271.422 1.753.370

Depreciation	tangible	fixed	assets 156.392 225.722

Total 21.142.255 16.215.439

Table 5: Budget 2017 and 2016 (in €)
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Nomvuyo doing the eggs collection 

round at Vuyane’s farm, South Africa

Photo: ICCO/Trendy Worx

07 Financial 
statements
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT DECEMBER 31ST, 2016 
(after appropriation of result)

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

Assets € € € €

Fixed assets

Tangible	fixed	assets 1 176,691 336,070

Financial	fixed	assets 2 8,922,579 4,927,396

9,099,270 5,263,466

 Current assets

  Accounts receivable and accrued income 3 13,588,695 12,342,122

  Securities 4 6,327,045 6,026,872

  Cash and cash equivalents 5 29,762,610 27,920,770

49,678,349 46,289,764

TOTAL ASSETS 58,777,619 51,553,230

LIABILITIES 6

Reserves

 Foundation capital 45 45

 Continuity reserve 4,929,922 5,635,209

 Appropriation reserve 1,759,631 1,824,014

 Appropriation reserve donor programs 3,468,511 0

 Appropriation reserve future proof programming 1,370,412 0

 Appropriation reserve Kerk in Actie themes 168,130 0

11,696,652 7,459,269

Funds 7

 Appropriation fund projects 99,642 4,169,452

 Appropriation fund guarantees 5,726,596 6,386,998

 Appropriation fund loans and participations 8,035,594 5,095,085

 Appropriation fund MFS interest 0 357,564

13,861,832 16,009,099

Provisions 8 5,363,955 6,409,980

Long-term liabilities 9 2,708,552 1,768,621

Current liabilities 10 25,146,628 19,906,261

TOTAL LIABILITIES 58,777,619 51,553,230

Financial Statements
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STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 2016

Actual 2016 Budget 2016  Actual 2015

Income 11

  Government grants - via Coöperatie ICCO U.A. 19,747,716 18,993,992 51,760,160

  Income from third parties 20,464,476 21,028,206 16,365,542

  Other income 1,515,924 0 1,931,768

  Income from investments 348,111 240,000 311,151

  Income from own fundraising activities 58,308 0 15,327

Total income 42,134,534 40,262,198 70,383,948

Expenses

  Spent on objectives 11 35,614,030 37,625,085 59,301,754

  Fundraising costs 12 1,011,982 826,925 1,662,534

  Management and Administration 2,513,433 2,894,237 4,342,620

Total expenses  39,139,445 41,346,247 65,306,908

2,995,090

  Results of subsidiaries 0 0 0

  Results of minority interest -904,975 0 0

Results of interests -904,975 0 0

Result 2,090,115 -1,084,049 5,077,040

Appropriation of net result

Transferred to / from:

  Continuity Reserve -705,288 -1,084,049 390,580

  Appropriation reserve -64,383 0 69,680

   Matching fund donor programs 3,468,510 0 0

   Fund future proof programming 1,370,410 0 0

   Fund Kerk in Actie themes 168,130 0 0

  Appropriation fund projects -4,069,807 0 -91,306

  Appropriation fund guarantees -660,402 0 1,062,320

  Appropriation fund loans and participations 2,940,509 0 3,576,943

  Appropriation fund MFS interest -357,564 0 68,822

Result 2,090,115 -1,084,049 5,077,039

 
CASH FLOW STATEMENT 2016

2016 2015

€ € € €

Result 2,090,115 5,077,039

Unrealized result securities -221,648 -57,772

Change in other provisions -1,046,025 2,166,842

Depreciation 187,423 229,456

Change of grants receivables -1,244,606 7,366,647

Change of other receivables -1,967 -880,127

Change of project obligations 3,658,453 -20,303,447

Change of inventory 0 0

Change of other liabilities 2,521,846 648,922

Cash	flow	from	operational	activities 5,943,590 -5,752,440

Investments	in	tangible	fixed	assets -28,043 -47,117

Investments	in	financial	fixed	assets -3,995,183 -3,713,157

Investments in securities on balance -78,524 -172,767

Cash	flow	from	investment	activities -4,101,750 -3,933,041

Change of loan 0 0

Change of equity 0 0

Cash	flow	from	financing	activities 0 0

Total 1,841,840 -9,685,481

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year 29,762,610 27,920,770

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	the	start	of	the	financial	year 27,920,770 37,606,251

Changes in cash and cash equivalents 1,841,840 -9,685,481
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General basic principles for preparation of the 
financial statements and principal activities
The financial statements consist of the statements of Stichting 
Interkerkelijke Organisatie voor Ontwikkelingssamenwerking 
ICCO, with legal statutory seat in Utrecht. 

The foundation is primarily involved in the reduction of 
poverty through development programs in the themes: 
Food Security and Sustainable Consumption, Economic 
Empowerment, Responsible Business and Emergency 
Response.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the Guideline 650 for Fundraising Institutions in the 
Netherlands.

For the execution of the Wet Normering Bezoldiging 
Topfunctionarissen in de (semi) publieke sector (WNT) the 
institution complied with the Beleidsregel toepassing WNT, 
regarding financial eligibility.

The financial year coincides with the calendar year. The 
applied basic principles for the valuation of assets and 
liabilities and the result determination are based on histor-
ical costs, unless indicated otherwise. Income and expenses 
are accounted for on accrual basis. Profit is only included 
when realized on balance sheet date. Liabilities and any 
losses originating before the end of the financial year are 
taken into account if they have become known before prepa-
ration of the financial statements.

Going concern
These financial statements have been prepared on the basis 
of the going concern assumption.

Transactions in foreign currency
Transactions are reported in Euro (EUR and €). Transactions 
in foreign currency are converted according to the exchange 
rate applying on the transaction date. Monetary assets and 
liabilities that are denominated in foreign currency are 
converted into the functional currency according to the 
exchange rate applying on that day. Non-monetary assets 
and liabilities in foreign currency that are included at their 
historical cost price are converted to Euros according to the 
exchange rate applicable on the transaction date.

Exchange rate variances are reported in the result of income 
and expenditure. Regarding participations exchange rate 
losses are added to the provision, exchange rate profits are 
not accounted. This valuation methodology and accounta-
bility both applies to transactions in foreign currency as the 
foreign operations money.

Use of estimates
The drawing up of the financial statements requires the 

Executive Board to form opinions and make estimates and 
assumptions that influence the basic principles and the 
reported value of assets and liabilities, and of income and 
expenditure. The actual outcomes may differ from these 
estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
continuously assessed. Revisions of estimates are included 
in the period in which the estimate is revised and in future 
periods for which the revision has consequences.

Estimates are especially applied regarding the valuation of 
the portfolio of loans, participations and guarantees and 
regarding the provisions for reorganization.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments include investments in shares and 
securities, trade and other receivables, cash items, loans and 
other financing commitments, and trade and other payables. 

The credit risk is small as most of the receivables are from 
the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs or the European Union.

Financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value. 
After initial recognition, financial instruments are valued as 
described below.

Financial instruments that are held for trading

Financial instruments (assets and liabilities) that are held 
for trading are valued at fair value and changes in that fair 
value are accounted for in the statement of income and 
expenditure. In the first period of recognition, transaction 
costs are included in the statement of income and expendi-
ture as expenditure.

Securities

ICCO has a treasury policy stating the responsibilities and 
controls regarding management of securities and savings. 
The portfolio has to meet a set of sustainability criteria that 
measure the level of effort invested in achieving results 
regarding their social and environmental policies. ICCO’s 
treasury strategy is to have 25% shares (minimum of 15% 
and maximum of 35%) and 75% Euro denominated bonds 
(minimum of 65% and maximum of 85%).

To the extent that these are listed on a stock exchange, loans 
and bonds are valued at fair value. Changes in that fair value 
are accounted for in the statement of income and expenditure. 
Loans and bonds that are not listed on a stock exchange will 
be valued at their amortized cost price on the basis of the 
effective interest method, less extraordinary depreciation loss.

Securities are used for the purpose of investments, amongst 
others to cover the amount in the continuity reserve.

Provided loans and other receivables

Provided loans and other receivables are valued at their 

EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2016
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amortized cost price on the basis of the effective interest 
method, less impairment losses.

Other financial commitments

Financial commitments that are not held for trading are 
valued at amortized cost on the basis of the effective inter-
est rate method.

Tangible and intangible fixed assets
The tangible and intangible fixed assets are valued at their 
acquisition price less the cumulative depreciations and 
impairment losses. The depreciations will be calculated as 
a percentage of the acquisition price according to the linear 
method on the basis of the economic lifespan, taking into 
account the residual value, if any.

The depreciation percentages applied are:
Inventory and installations: 10% or 20%
Hardware and software – general: 33%
Hardware and software – ERP system: 20%
Company Cars: 33%
Founding costs: 20%

All tangible and intangible fixed assets are used for organi-
zational purposes.

Financial fixed assets
Subsidiaries in which significant influence can be exercised 
on the business and financial policy are valued according to 
the equity method on the basis of the net asset value. The 
valuation principles of the cooperative will be used to deter-
mine the net asset value. Holdings with a negative net asset 
value will be valued at nil and ICCO will make a provision for 
its share in the negative equity capital of these subsidiaries 
in case of liabilities for debts of the subsidiary.

Subsidiaries in which no significant influence can be exer-
cised are valued at their acquisition price or their perma-
nently lower going-concern value. Dividends are accounted 
for in the period in which they are made payable. Interest 
income is accounted for in the period in which it is achieved, 
taking into account the effective interest rate of the relevant 
asset. Profits and losses, if any, are accounted for under 
financial income and expenditure.

The financial fixed assets are presented net from the provi-
sions for losses in the portfolio of loans and participations.

Loans and participations are related to the objectives and 
not used for organizational or investment purposes. This 
also counts for loans and participations of ICCO Investments 
and the Agribusiness Booster.

Impairment
For tangible and intangible fixed assets an assessment is 
made as of each balance sheet date as to whether there are 
indications that these assets are subject to impairment. If 
there are such indications, then the recoverable value of the 

asset is estimated. The recoverable value is the higher of the 
value in use and the net realizable value. If it is not possible 
to estimate the recoverable value of an individual asset, then 
the recoverable value of each cash flow generating unit to 
which the asset belongs is estimated.

Receivables
Upon initial recognition the receivables are valued at fair 
value and then valued at amortized cost. The fair value and 
amortized cost equal the face value. Provisions deemed 
necessary for possible bad debt losses are deducted. These 
provisions are determined by individual assessment of the 
receivables.

Securities
Stocks and bonds should be valued initially at fair value. In a 
business transaction, the fair value at the time of the trans-
action will be equal to the cost price.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the shares and bonds may not be included in the initial 
measurement, on the subsequent valuation with fair value, 
transaction costs are recognized in the profit and loss 
account.

Reserves 
Continuity reserve

The continuity reserve has been created to safeguard the 
continuity in case of (temporary) highly disappointing 
income. The amount reserved is found to be sufficient 
to cover for liabilities from third parties, liabilities from 
personnel and other short term risks. This is in accord-
ance with the financial guidelines of to the Goede Doelen 
Nederland (the umbrella of charity organizations in the 
Netherlands).

Appropriation reserve 

The appropriation reserve has been created with funding 
acquired from the National Postcode Lottery. The limited 
deployment options of the appropriation reserve have 
been determined by the Executive Board and are not an 
obligation. The Executive Board can lift these limitations 
itself.

Appropriation reserve donor programs

The appropriation reserve has been created with funding 
acquired from the National Postcode Lottery. The limited 
deployment options of the appropriation reserve have been 
determined by the Executive Board and are not an obliga-
tion. The Executive Board can lift these limitations itself.

Appropriation reserve future proof programming

The appropriation fund future proof programming has been 
created to strengthen ICCO programs and products in order 
to make this future proof a/o successful.

Appropriation reserve Kerk in Actie themes

This fund is created from specific Kerk in Actie funds and 
therefor will be spend on specific themes.
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Appropriation reserve donor programs

The appropriation reserve donor programs has been 
created for matching own ICCO contributions in donor 
programs. Based on proposals for donors an amount for 
funding can be approved by the Executive Board.

Appropriation reserve future proof programming

The appropriation fund future proof programming has been 
created to strengthen ICCO programs and products in order 
to make this future proof a/o successful.

Appropriation reserve Kerk in Actie themes

This fund is created from specific Kerk in Actie funds and 
therefore will be spend on specific themes.

Founding Costs appropriation reserve

The appropriation reserve founding costs consists of the 
costs regarding the founding of Coöperatie ICCO U.A.

Funds
Appropriation funds

Appropriation funds are those funds with a specific 
purpose, as indicated by third parties. It concerns the 
following funds:
• Project appropriation fund: concerns funding received 

for a specific project appropriation as indicated by third 
parties.

• Guarantee appropriation fund (pertaining to ICCO’s 
program objectives): concerns a fund to cover the guar-
antee obligations which exceed the level of the guarantee 
provisions made.

• Loans and participations appropriation fund (pertaining 
to ICCO’s program objectives): concerns a fund to cover 
provided loans and participating interests above the level 
of the risk provisions taken for loans and participating 
interests.

• VERs appropriation fund: concerns a fund to cover inven-
tories and provided loans to partners investing in VERs.

• MFS interest appropriation fund: concerns interest 
received on MFS funds that, pursuant to the grant 
scheme will be fully spent on the MFS objectives in the 
future.

Provisions
Unless stated otherwise the other provisions are valued at 
the face value of the expenditures that are expected to be 
necessary for settling the related obligations.

Guarantee obligations provision

ICCO provides guarantees to (bank) institutions, which use 
this to provide loans to third parties. A provision has been 
recognized for the guarantees provided by ICCO, which is 
based on a risk assessment of country risk, project risk 
and global economy risk. In calculating the provision, the 
payment behavior of the relevant partner is also taken 
into account. The risks are based on the best practices; 
however, in some regions these risks cannot be deter-
mined precisely.

Reorganization provision

In 2009, within the framework of the reorganization 
process, ProCoDe, a redundancy package for the employees 
who were redundant at the Utrecht office was agreed upon. 
In addition, within the framework of the reorganization 
process under MFSII in 2010, another redundancy package 
for the employees who were made redundant at the Utrecht 
office was agreed upon. The calculated provisions have been 
based on the number of redundant FTEs and the expected 
cost of termination and dismissal.

Moreover, within the framework of the reorganization 
process under ‘Future Proofing ICCO 2016 – 2018’, another 
redundancy package for the employees who were made 
redundant at the Utrecht office was agreed upon. The 
calculated provisions were similarly based on the number 
of redundant FTEs and the expected cost of termination 
and dismissal. The reorganization process under this latest 
strategy has also affected employees in the regional offices. 

Another addition relates to the reorganization for restruc-
turing ICCO in preparation of the financial restructuring 
after MFSII period. The reorganization affects staff at both 
the global office and ICCO Terrafina Microfinance.  

Employee benefits/pensions (pledged contribution scheme)
Liabilities related to contributions to pension schemes on 
the basis of pledged contributions are included in the state-
ment of income and expenditure in the period in to which 
the contributions refer.

Long-term and short-term liabilities
Upon initial recognition, the loans and liabilities recorded 
are stated at fair value and then valued at amortized cost.

Income
Government grants

Government grants are credited to the statement of income 
and expenditure of the year in which the subsidized deploy-
ment takes place. Government grants are reported as 
income in proportion to the expenditures.

For guarantees, loans, participating interests and invento-
ries and loans concerning the VERs, the amounts that are 
added to the risk provisions and the residual part of the 
amounts pursuant to provided principals and guarantees 
are accounted for as income and be appropriated to the 
guarantees appropriation fund, the loans and participating 
interests appropriation fund or the VERs appropriation fund 
through result appropriation.

Income from our own fundraising activities/Income from 

third party campaigns

This income is credited to the statement of income and 
expenditure in the year in which the income is received or 
pledged. Grants are reported as income in proportion to the 
expenditures.
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Income from investments

This income is credited to the statement of income and 
expenditure in accordance with the above-mentioned 
valuation principles of financial instruments. Income out of 
interest from cash and cash equivalents is included in the 
statement of income and expenditure of the year to which it 
pertains.
Interest received on the bank account that is specifically 
used for income and payments related to the MFS program 
are added to the MFS appropriation fund through result 
appropriation.

Expenditure
In the statement of income and expenditure, the costs of 
ICCO’s own activities are subdivided as follows: spent on 
objectives, fundraising costs and management and adminis-
tration costs. The allocation principles used by ICCO and the 
allocation methods to determine this subdivision have been 
detailed in the explanatory notes to the financial statements.

Spent on objectives

These expenditures consist of grants to third parties, contri-
butions and execution costs. The expenditure due to grants 
to third parties is charged to the statement of income and 
expenditure in the year in which ICCO agrees to the grants 
and/or makes the contribution. 

The expenditure and income related to MFSII grant in the 
financial statements consist of both: 
• The expenditure due to grants to third parties (ICCO’s 

share of the grant) charged to the statement of income 
and expenditure in the year in which ICCO agrees to the 
grants and/or makes the contribution and the funds are 
confirmed; and 

• The expenditure for the liability resulting from the budget 
allocated to the Alliance members charged to the state-
ment of income and expenditure in the year in which 
ICCO receives the MFSII budget from the Dutch Ministry 
of Foreign Affairs. 

The following applies specifically to the guarantees provided 
by ICCO. ICCO will designate an amount pertaining to the risk 
of the relevant guarantee actually leading to expenditure as 
expenditure in the year in which the guarantee is provided. 
In ICCO’s balance sheet, the possible liabilities that arise 
from the provided guarantees are reflected in the guarantee 
obligations provision. The financial consequences of changes 
in the risks pertaining to the provided guarantees and/or the 
amount in guarantees provided lead to an adjustment of the 
provision in the year in which the change occurs. Additions to 
and/or deductions from the guarantee obligations provision 
are processed through the “Spent on objectives” item in the 
statement of income and expenditure.

The following applies specifically to the payments made 
by ICCO related to loans and participating interests. ICCO 
will designate an amount pertaining to the risk of value 
depreciation of the relevant asset as expenditure in the year 

in which the value depreciation occurs. In ICCO’s balance 
sheet, the possible value depreciations are reflected in the 
loans and participating interests provision (this provision 
is balanced against the level of the loans and participating 
interests). The financial effect of changes in the risks and/or 
the amount of outstanding loans and participating interests 
leads to an adjustment of the provision in the year in which 
the change occurs. Additions to and/or deductions from the 
loans and participating interests provision are processed 
through the “Spent on objectives” item in the statement of 
income and expenditure.

The execution costs are charged to the statement of income 
and expenditure in the year to which they pertain.

Fundraising costs

These costs are charged to the statement of income and 
expenditure in the year to which they pertain.

Management and administration costs

These costs are charged to the statement of income and 
expenditure in the year to which they pertain.

Personnel expenses
Pension plans personnel:
The pension contribution charged to the profit and loss 
account amounts to EUR 880,268 over 2016 (2015: EUR 
1,141,873).

Pursuant to the Dutch pension system this plan is financed 
by contributions to pension fund PFZW, an industry pension 
fund. Participation in this pension fund has been made 
obligatory in the collective labor agreement applicable to 
ICCO Foundation. 

The related accrued entitlements are always fully financed 
in the related calendar year through – at least - cost effective 
contribution payments. The pension plan is a career average 
plan including - for both active and inactive participants 
(sleepers and retired persons) - conditional granting of 
supplements. The granting of supplements depends on the 
investment return.
The contribution to the pension fund amounts to 23.9% of 
the pensionable salary, which is based on gross wage per 
employee less a fixed amount per year. The annual employ-
ee-paid contribution is 10.02% of the pensionable salary. 
Based on the funding ratio and expected returns the board of 
the industry pension fund sets the contribution every year.

The related industry pension has stated that the funding 
ratio is 90% in 2016(2015: 97%). Based on the adminis-
trative regulations the group has no obligation to make 
additional contributions in the event of a deficit other than 
through higher future contributions.

For employees of several regional offices a monthly reser-
vation is made which is payable when the contract is termi-
nated or when the employee retires. 
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Cash flow statement 
The cash flow statement was drawn up on the basis of 
the indirect method. Cash flows in foreign currency were 
converted to Euros, using the weighted average conversion 
rates for the relevant periods.

Cash and cash equivalents consist of current accounts in the 
Netherlands and for the regional offices, saving accounts 

and cash held at the global or regional offices. The bank 
balance of the Investment account is classified as cash and 
cash equivalents.

The cash flow movements are specified in the explanatory 
notes of the balance sheet and the statement of income and 
expenses.

 EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THE ITEMS ON THE BALANCE SHEET

1  TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Movements in the tangible fixed assets are as follows:

inventory 
and  

installations

hard- and 
software 
general

hard- and 
software ERP 

system

company
 cars

total
tangible

fixed assets

€

Acquisition/Manufacturing cost as at January 1, 2016 405,415 1,210,146 1,416,400 240,370 3,272,331

Cumulative depreciation and other impairment in value as at January 1, 2016 -335,859 -980,513 -1,398,038 -221,851 -2,936,261

Carrying amount as at January 1, 2016 69,556 229,633 18,362 18,519 336,070

Investments 0 18,504 0 30,150 48,654

Amount of disposals (acquisition) -90,376 -242,017 -19,001 -72,707 -424,102

Amount of disposals (depreciation) 78,047 240,370 19,001 64,847 402,266

Depreciation -17,877 -134,953 -18,362 -16,231 -187,423

Other impairments in value and reversals thereof 919 306 1,225

Carrying amount as at December 31, 2016 -29,286 -117,790 -18,362 6,059 -159,379

Acquisition/Manufacturing cost as at December 31, 2015 315,039 986,632 1,397,398 197,813 2,896,884

Cumulative depreciation and other impairment in value as at December 31, 2016 -274,770 -874,790 -1,397,398 -173,235 -2,720,193

Carrying amount as at December 31, 2016 40,269 111,843 0 24,578 176,691

Depreciation percentages 10%-20% 33% 20% 33%

2  FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS

Loans and participations

The movement of this item, excluding the provision for loans and participating interests, is as follows:

Participations in 
group companies 
third companies

Receivables 
from group 
companies

Receivables from 
third companies

Other associated
companies Total

€

Carrying amount as at January 1, 2016 1,057,215 0 2,842,897 3,250,000 7,150,112

Movements:

Purchases, loans granted 2,895,757 450,000 235,000 1,800,000 5,380,757

Sales, redemptions -35,807 -35,807

Exchange rate differences 7,679 7,679

Write offs -130,000 -904,975 -1,034,975

Reversals of impairments 0

Revaluations 0

Converted loans 680,000 -680,000

Transfer to current assets 67,035 67,035

Associated company dividends 72,727 72,727

Other changes in equity 252 252

Carrying value as at December 31, 2016 4,705,951 450,000 2,306,804 4,145,025 11,607,780
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The purchases and loans granted consist of a loan provided to ICCO Group for a participation in a Dutch business, two 
disbursements under earlier signed loan agreements, one new loan and four participations under the Agribusiness Booster 
activities, new participations in Rabo Rural Fund (EUR 2,645,757) and cooperative PerspActive (EUR 250.000) and an 
increased participation of EUR 1,800,000 in Foundation Business4Impact. The write-offs regard the loss of Business4Impact 
of EUR 904,975. Additionally two loans have been written off EUR 130,000.

Sales and redemptions concern the repayment of loans. Dividends were paid in cash and shares by two companies. Caused by 
legal constraints, a participation according to the contract signed, was locally to be legally registered as a shareholder loan, 
and therefore converted into a loan.

The receivables within one year have been transferred to current assets.

The movement of the provision for the financial fixed assets is as follows:

Participations in 
group companies 
third companies

Receivables 
from group 
companies

Receivables from 
third companies

Other associated
companies Total

€

Carrying amount as at January 1, 2016 214,987 0 2,007,729 0 2,222,716

Additions 320,362 242,123 562,485

Deduction -100,000 -100,000

Carrying value as at December 31, 2016 535,349 0 2,149,852 0 2,685,201

Balance of loans and participating interests 4,170,602 450,000 156,952 4,145,025 8,922,579

Annually, the provision for financial fixed assets is determined based on a structured risk assessment of the loan and partici-
pation portfolio. The risk assessment includes country risks, project risks based on business performance criteria, and extra 
risks as indicated by the fund manager. In the regions where ICCO operates, due to economic and political factors the appro-
priate information cannot always be established or confirmed. As a result ICCO’s risk assessment may differ significantly from 
the actual outcome.

3  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND ACCRUED INCOME

The specification of this item is as follows:

 31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Donors 11,065,695  9,821,089 

Short term receivables loans  342,454  105,607 

Income from securities and interest  65,010  73,986 

Receivables from employees  21,901  20,464 

Receivables from group companies  63,958  863,097 

Prepayments  2,029,677  282,175 

Other receivables and accrued income  -    1,175,704 

13,588,695  12,342,122 

Donors

This item concerns the amounts to be received from government grants and third parties concerning special project grants. 

Receivables from group companies

In 2016 ICCO foundation has a receivable of EUR 63.958 with the Coöperatie ICCO U.A.
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4  SECURITIES

The composition of this item is as follows:

2016 2015

€ % € %

Stocks 1,709,708 27,0% 1,528,256 25,4%

Bonds 4,545,903 71,8% 4,428,557 73,5%

Oikocredit stocks 71,435 1,1% 70,059 1,2%

Balance as  per 31 December  6,327,045 100%  6,026,872 100%

stocks
bonds and 

sub-ordinated 
loans

participation 
Oikocredit total

€

Book value as per 1 January  1,528,256  4,428,557  70,059  6,026,872 

Acquisitions 382,516  366,955  749,470 

Dividend payment in participations  1,375  1,375 

 1,910,772  4,795,512  71,435  6,777,718 

Sales  308,740  363,581  672,321 

 1,602,031  4,431,931  71,435  6,105,396 

Value changes of the share price as a result of valuation  107,676  113,972  221,648 

Book value as per 31 December  1,709,708  4,545,903  71,435  6,327,045 

The return consists of the following components:

dividend and 
interest unrealised profit realised profit total

€

Stocks  33,781  107,676  2,700  144,157 

Bonds  70,926  113,972  7  184,905 

Participating interest  1,375  1,375 

 106,081  221,648  2,707  330,437 

Interest on cash and cash equivalents  17,674 

Total income from investments  348,111 

The securities are at the free disposal of the foundation. 

Stocks, bonds and subordinated loans 

The stocks, bonds and subordinated loans have been valued at the market price at the end of the year. The value changes are 
accounted for under “Income from investments”. 

At the end of the year, the nominal value of the bonds amounts to EUR 4,170,000.

The securities are in conformity with ICCO’s treasury strategy, which is to have 25% shares (minimum of 15% and maximum 
of 35%) and 75% Euro denominated bonds (minimum of 65% and maximum of 85%).

Unrealized profit is the theoretically realized profit as per year end. Realized profit is the profit actually received at the 
moment of sale of the stocks or bonds.

Oikocredit 

The Oikocredit stock is included at nominal value.
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5  CASH and CASH EQUIVALENTS

The specification of this item is as follows:

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€

Banks 29,747,560 27,881,959

Cash  15,049 38,881

29,762,610 27,920,770

The balance of cash and cash equivalents includes an amount of restricted cash of 
EUR 2,866,580 (2015: EUR 2,980,365). The banks of the foundation have blocked these amounts for outstanding guarantees 
arising from loans, participations and guarantees and also from donors such as the European Union.

6  RESERVES

Continuity reserve

The changes in the continuity reserve in the financial year are as follows:

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Balance as at 1 January  5,635,255  5,244,674 

Less/plus: from appropriation of results -705,287  390,581 

Balance as at 31 December  4,929,968  5,635,255 

Appropriation reserve 

The changes in the appropriation reserve in the financial year are as follows:

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Balance as at 1 January  1,824,014  1,754,334 

Less/plus: from appropriation of results -64,383  69,680 

Balance as at 31 December  1,759,631  1,824,014 

This appropriation reserve as at 31 December 2016 consists of the funds received from the National Postcode Lottery, for 
which the Executive Board has determined a specific purpose. 

Appropriation reserve donor programs

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Balance as at 1 January  -   

Less/plus: from appropriation of results  3,468,512 

Balance as at 31 December  3,468,512  - 

Appropriation reserve future proof programming

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Balance as at 1 January  -   

Less/plus: from appropriation of results  1,370,412 

Balance as at 31 December  1,370,412  - 
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Appropriation reserve Kerk in Actie themes

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Balance as at 1 January  -   

Less/plus: from appropriation of results  168,130 

Balance as at 31 December  168,130  - 

This appropriation reserve has been created from a re-allocation of appropriation funds.

7  FUNDS

Appropriation funds concern funding received for a specific purpose as indicated by third parties. The movement of the 
appropriation funds is as follows:

Project appropriation fund

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Balance as at 1 January  4,169,452  4,260,758 

Less/plus: from appropriation of results -4,069,807 -91,306

Balance as at 31 December  99,645  4,169,452 

As per 31 December 2015 the balance of the project appropriation fund is EUR 4,169,452. Appropriation funds concern fund-
ing received for a specific purpose as indicated by third parties. An overview of this fund however, shows that the majority of 
these specific purposes are no longer valid or outdated. Another issue is that for certain funds the total amount of is too low 
to be spend in an effective way. Based on this the Executive Board decided to re-allocate these funds as in the overview below.

New funds after reallocation Amount

Matching fund donor programs  2,559,551

Fund future proof programming  1,314,520

Fund Kerk in Actie themes 162,636

Subtotal 4,036,706

Addition to continuity reserve 14,125

From project appropiation fund 4,050,831

The appropriation fund project consists of several contributions from third parties (non-governmental) which can only be 
used for specific purposes as specified by these parties.

Guarantee appropriation fund

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Balance as at 1 January  6,386,998  5,324,678 

Less/plus: from appropriation of results -660,402  1,062,320 

Balance as at 31 December  5,726,596  6,386,998 

The guarantee appropriation fund is meant for guarantees ICCO has provided for loans issued by financial service providers. 
The guarantees at risk were provided, and the balance is accounted for in the appropriation fund. The balance of the guaran-
tee appropriation fund decreased as compared to 2015, with the decrease of the liability to be covered.
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Loans and participations appropriation fund

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Balance as at 1 January  5,095,085  1,518,142 

Less/plus: from appropriation of results  2,940,509  3,576,943 

Balance as at 31 December  8,035,594  5,095,085 

The appropriation fund loans and participations increased with the additional participation in Foundation Business4Impact. 
Furthermore the fund increased with the movement in the provision for loans and participations.

Appropriation fund MFS interest

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Balance as at 1 January  357,564  288,742 

Less/plus: from appropriation of results -357,564  68,822 

Balance as at 31 December -  357,564 

8  PROVISIONS

The specification of the provisions is as follows:

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Reorganization provision ProCoDe  265,844  620,976 

Redundancy package MFS II provision  193,981  312,669 

Provision Restructuring 2014-2016  304,755  584,362 

Provision	Terrafina	Microfinance  45,231  61,723 

Reorganization provision Future Proof 2016 - 2018  871,107  1,033,428 

Provision VAT  816,458  816,458 

Guarantee obligations  2,866,580  2,980,365 

 5,363,955  6,409,980 

 
The movement in the provision for reorganization ProCoDe is as follows:

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Balance as at 1st January  620,976  786,196 

Less: Payments -197,210 -165,220

Mutation of provision -157,922  -   

Balance as at 31 December  265,844  620,976 

A provision was made in 2009 for the costs of the redundancy package agreed upon for the ICCO employees who were redun-
dant at the Utrecht office. In 2016 an amount of EUR 197,210 was spent. Based on recalculation of the expected expenditure a 
mutation of EUR 157,922 was made.

The movement in the provision for redundancy package MFS II is as follows:

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Balance as at 1st January  312,669  349,004 

Less: Payments -61,235 -76,803

Mutation of provision -57,453  40,468 

Balance as at 31 December  193,981  312,669 
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A provision was made in 2010 for the reorganization, which resulted from the severe cut of government grant at the end of 
2010. Based on the redundancy package agreed upon for the ICCO employees, an amount of EUR 61,235 was spent in 2016. 
Based on recalculation of the expected expenditure a mutation of EUR 57,453 was made.

The movement in the provision for restructuring 2014-2016 is as follows:

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Balance as at 1st January  584,362  -   

Less: Payments -245,580  -   

Mutation of provision -34,027  584,362 

Balance as at 31 December  304,755  584,362 

A provision is made in 2015 for the reorganization that started to reshape ICCO for the period after the MFSII period. An 
amount of EUR 245,580 was spent in 2016. Based on recalculation of the expected expenditure a mutation of EUR 34.027 was 
made.

The movement in the provision for ICCO Terrafina Microfinance is as follows:

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Balance as at 1st January  61,723 

Less: Payments -11,388

Mutation of provision -5,104  61,723 

Balance as at 31 December  45,231  61,723 

A provision was made in 2015 for the reorganization that started to downsize ICCO for the period after the MFSII period. 
This reorganization relates in particular to the Terrafina Microfinance department in which ICCO, Rabobank and Oikocredit 
worked together in a tripartite way. An amount of EUR 11,388 was spent in 2016. Based on recalculation of the expected 
expenditure a release of EUR 5,104 was made.

The movement in the provision for Future Proof is as follows:

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Balance as at 1st January  1,033,428 

Less: Payments -120,375

Mutation of provision -41,946  1,033,428 

Balance as at 31 December  871,107  1,033,428 

A provision is made in 2015 for the reorganization that resulted from the next severe cut of government grant at the end of 
the MFSII period. This reorganization has impact in the regional offices as well as in the global office in Utrecht. An amount of 
EUR 120.374 was spent in 2016. Based on recalculation of the expected expenditure a release of EUR 41,946 was made.

The movement in the provision VAT is as follows:

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Balance as at 1st January  816,458 

Less: Payments

Mutation of provision  816,458 

Balance as at 31 December  816,458  816,458 

During the period 2011-2015 consultants have been hired by ICCO from Fair & Sustainable  Advisory Services BV. The 
invoices have been charged without adding VAT. ICCO is of the opinion that it forms a fiscal unit for the VAT with its subsidiar-
ies. Based on the current discussion with the Dutch tax department there is however a risk that the VAT has to be paid.
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The movement in the provision for guarantee obligations is as follows:

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Balance as at 1st January  2,980,365  3,107,939 

Less: Called guarantees -1,025,788 -528,098

Mutation of provision  912,003  400,524 

Balance as at 31 December  2,866,580  2,980,365 

The provision is determined based on a risk assessment of a guarantee being called in, on the basis of earlier experience 
figures. In these figures, a country risk is taken into account, as well as a project risk based on payment behavior and business 
performance.

The reduction of the provision was mainly due to a reduction of the portfolio. The total liability was EUR  8,593,176 as per 31 
December 2016 (EUR 9,367,363 as per 31 December 2015).

9  LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

This item consists of long-term project commitments.

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Project commitments

2017 -  - 

2018  1,619,660  1,505,845 

2019 and further  1,088,892  262,776 

 2,708,552  1,768,621 

10  CURRENT LIABILITIES

The specification of this item is as follows:

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

€ 

Project commitments  7,042,690  12,888,002 

Project related commitments  4,254,548  1,842,941 

Advances from donors 6,152,228  -   

Accruals and deferred income  2,901,150  2,321,621 

Accounts payable  1,910,787  442,103 

Liabilities to participants  1,341,085  381,847 

Liabilities to group companies -  447,696 

Security contributions and taxes  503,276  561,384 

Reservation for holiday allowance  124,063  143,140 

Provision for holidays  138,860  182,180 

Amounts owed to staff  636,181  127,583 

Other liabilities  141,761  567,764 

25,146,628  19,906,261 

Project commitments

Project commitments consist of subsidy contracts with partners related to the objectives payable on short term. 
Commitments payable after one year are reported under long-term liabilities. 

Project related commitments

Project related commitments are costs of management and support related to project commitments.
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Liabilities to participants

Liabilities to participants regard the amounts owed to coop-
erative PerspActive.
 
Related Parties

ICCO Foundation is related to Coöperatie ICCO U.A. 

ICCO rents office space in Utrecht from the Protestant 
Church in the Netherlands. The rent amount per year is
EUR 342,840 from 2016 onwards. The current rent period 
expires on December 31st 2018. ICCO executes the inter-
national program of Kerk in Actie, which is part of the 
Protestant Church. A number of departments related to the 
International Program, Finances, IT and Human Resources 
of ICCO and the Protestant Church have been merged.

Besides her members and participations in group compa-
nies, ICCO has not identified other related parties. 

In a limited number of cases ICCO has a seat in the board of 
organizations in which ICCO has a participation. ICCO has 
no significant influence on these parties. The participations 
held by ICCO are related to the objectives. 

Receivables and liabilities not included in the 
balance sheet

Receivable VAT

Starting in 2012, the VAT returns have not been rewarded 
by the Dutch Tax Authorities. ICCO holds the opinion that 
the activities are taxable for VAT, according to VAT reso-
lution 283, which states that, if an organization performs 
projects with the help of third parties in foreign countries, 
the activities are taxable by Dutch VAT regulations. This 

implicates that income is charged with 0% VAT and that the 
VAT included in purchases and investments is deductible 
and receivable. In 2015 an appeal has been made against 
the decision of the Tax Authorities in which the receivable 
VAT amount has been calculated at EUR 3,337,942. The 
outcome of this audit is yet unknown.

Receivables Governments

The receivables from the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs; 
the Strategic Partnership program and the final installments 
MFSII program, DGIS, Third Parties and the European Union 
are EUR 41,231,307. This amount consists of granted subsi-
dies, which are receivable in 2017 and 2018.

Multiannual financial liabilities:

Rental agreement Protestant Church / PLD

A rental agreement was entered into with the Protestant 
Church for a period of five years. ICCO and Kerk in Actie 
jointly rent 1,858 m2. This agreement is adjusted in 2013 
for 2013-2015, based on reduction to 1,283 m2 and a total 
rental price of EUR 560,000 per annum, which includes rent 
of the building and conference rooms. The rental agreement 
is under negotiation. 

Liabilities to subsidize liabilities of third parties:

Issued bank guarantees

As at December 31st2016, ICCO has issued bank guaran-
tees for a total amount of EUR 2,866,580. An amount of 
EUR 2,866,580 of this pertains to guarantees (including 
mentioned ING Loan guarantee) and are part of the amount 
of provided guarantees of EUR 8,593,176 as included in 
explanation number 9 to these financial statements. The 
remaining EUR 5,726,596 concerns the value of guarantees 
for liabilities that were not included in the balance sheet.
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EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THE ITEMS ON THE STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE

11  INCOME

Actual 2016 Actual 2015

Subsidies of governments €

BUZA MFS II via Coöperatie ICCO U.A.

 - ICCO Alliance 9,201,965 37,917,107

 - WASH Alliance -54,843 891,184

 - Connect 4 Change Alliance - 305,350

DGIS - special projects 10,008,341 12,354,582

Total Dutch government 19,155,463 51,468,223

EU grants 592,253 291,937

19,747,716 51,760,160

Income from third party campaigns 20,464,476 16,365,542

Other income/ interest MFS €

Interest cash and cash equivalents MFS 16,381 68,822

Income Loans, Participations & Guarantees 259,699 273,526

Other income 1,239,845 1,589,420

1,515,924 1,931,768

Investments income €

Investment results 330,437 232,259

Interest cash and cash equivalents 17,674 78,892

348,111 311,151

Income frow own fundraising activities 58,308 15,327

Total income 42,134,534 70,383,948

General

The recognized income includes coverage for organizational costs. As a part of the Income coverage for project overhead and 
self-implementing expenses is accounted for. The related expenditure is reported in the expenses (C1-C6 categories).

Income from our own fundraising activities

This amount includes the estates received for the benefit of ICCO, as well as other fundraising income, such as donations, 
legacies and contributions.

Income from third party campaigns

The regular contribution of the National Postcode Lotteryj (EUR 1,350,000) is presented here as part of the total amount.
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12  EXPENDITURE

The expenditure related to the objectives is divided over the themes as follows:

Actual 2016 Actual 2015

Main objectives €

Food Security and Sustainable Consumption
Program costs
Execution costs

 4,746,282 
 3,772,806

3,439,375 
 3,666,676

 8,519,088  7,106,051 

Economic Empowerment and Inclusive Markets
Program costs
Execution costs

4,792,483 
 5,454,667

 3,828,113 
 4,205,538

 10,247,150  8,033,651 

Responsible Business
Program costs
Execution costs

 2,112,112 
 2,190,423

 3,828,113 
 4,205,538

 4,302,535  8,033,651 

Emergency Response
Program costs
Execution costs

 4,860,331 
 2,044,186

 5,406,032 
 1,590,486

 6,904,517  6,996,518 

Other
Program costs
Execution costs

 2,354,139 
 3,286,600

 21,126,260 
 8,005,622

 5,640,739  29,131,882 

Program costs
Execution costs

 18,865,347 
 16,748,682

 37,627,894 
 21,673,861

Total Program costs  35,614,030  59,301,754 

Payments	in	the	financial	year  34,109,542  54,691,827 

Changes in the project commitments to partners, reorganization provision, warranty provision, loans 
provision and participating interests and execution costs

 1,504,488  4,609,927 

Total  35,614,030  59,301,754 

Expenditure on Emergency Response

 In 1,000 EUR 2016 2015 2014 

Expenditure on Disaster Management and Rehabilitation 6,912 11,712 2,369 

Income from own fundraising activities 58 15 200 

The expenditure on Emergency Response projects is presented as a separate main objective. In last year’s financial state-
ments it was reported under the other main objectives they relate to. The total expenditure that can be classified as 
Emergency Response in 2016 is EUR 6,911,754. The Nepal earthquake and South Sudan emergency relief are among the 
disasters in 2016.

Expenditure utilization rate

Actual 
2016

Budget 
2016

Actual 
2015

€

Total spent on objectives  35,614,030  37,625,085  59,301,755 

Total expenses  39,139,445  41,346,247  65,306,909 

Expenditure utilization rate 91% 91% 91%

The expenditure utilization rate was determined by dividing the total amount spent on the objectives by the total 
expenditure.

Income utilization rate

Actual 
2016

Budget 
2016

Actual 
2015

€

Total spent on objectives  35,614,030  37,625,085  59,301,755 

Total income  42,134,534  40,262,198  70,383,948 

Income utilization rate 85% 93% 84%
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The income utilization rate was determined by dividing the total amount spent on the objectives by the total income. 

In both rates the costs for provisions on loans, participations and guarantees are included in the total amount spent on the 
objectives. Any repayments are included in the provision. 

13  FUNDRAISING

Actual 
2016

Actual 
2015

€

Fundraising subsidies  351,567  734,015 

Fundraising third party campaigns  660,415  928,519 

 1,011,982  1,662,534 

The costs for fundraising include costs made to obtain subsidies and income from third party campaigns. In 2015 no expendi-
ture was made on fundraising activities in the private sector.

EXPLANATION OF THE EXPENDITURE ALLOCATION

Specification and allocation of expenditure according to their appropriation:

List C
All amounts × EUR 1,000

Spent on the Objectives Fundraising Costs

FS EE RB ER Other Total Third Party 
Campaigns Subsidies M&A Total 

2016
Budget 

2016
Total 
2015

Expenditures objectives  4,746  4,792  2,112  4,860  2,354 18,865  -    18,865  27,412  37,628 

Publicity and communication C1 394 528 199 71 216 1,408 85 44 167 1,704 532 2,025 

Personnel costs C2 2,383 2,902 1,515 1,338 2,132 10,270 365 195 792 11,622 9,760 17,261 

Direct costs C3 527 764 99 233 520 2,143 47 25 237 2,452 1,030 3,113 

Housing costs C4 94 164 69 124 90 541 7 3 231 782 758 1,024 

Office-	and	general	costs	 C5 358 1,048 301 250 318 2,275 150 82 1,019 3,526 1,630 4,027 

Depreciations and interest C6 23 27 11 35 15 111 6 3 68 187 224 229 

Execution costs 3,780 5,433 2,194 2,051 3,290 16,749 660 352 2,513 20,274 13,934 27,679 

Total expenses 8,526 10,226 4,306 6,912 5,645 35,614 660 352 2,513 39,139 41,346 65,307 

The allocation of expenditure between the amounts spent on the objectives, on fundraising and on management & adminis-
tration (M&A) is based on the actual expenditure on partner contracts as well as on time registration and FTEs. Regarding the 
execution costs a separate analysis was made per cost centre of the applicable percentages of costs that can be allocated to 
each theme, M&A and fundraising, based on time registration or on number of FTEs. The allocation method used for division 
of expenditure among the themes, M&A and fundraising is in accordance with the Goede Doelen Nederland guidelines.

The M&A costs as a percentage of total expenditure is 6.4% (2015 6.7%).

Costs made for externally financed donor projects 
A general observation for all C1-C6 categories is that the 2016 C1-C6 budget figures are for the regular overhead budget. The 
budget figures do not include the externally financed donor budgets for the 2016 part of those donor projects. In the C1-C6 
categories the 2016 expenditure are made. The coverage of these donor project expenses on donor projects are part of the 
project income (under specification 11 Income in the annual report). 
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C1  Publicity and communication costs

Actual 2016 Budget 2016 Actual 2015

€

Communication costs 1,701,027 529,599 2,019,161

Documentation costs 3,447 2,652 5,870

1,704,474 532,251 2,025,031

The communication costs are higher than budgeted especially in the Regional Offices Central Asia and Central and Eastern 
Africa because of the costs made for seminars and workshops in projects. Furthermore the ICCO Group B.V. had higher 
expenditures on representations costs.

For the other movements we refer to ‘Costs made for externally financed donor projects’. 

C2  Personnel Costs

Actual 2016 Budget 2016 Actual 2015

€

Salaries 7,432,265 7,117,633 10,559,609

Holiday allowance and year-end bonus 766,490 557,766 992,383

Social security charges 1,014,130 828,580 1,222,096

Pension contributions 735,201 432,906 956,840

Staff costs 9,948,087 8,936,885 13,730,928

Hiring of staff 1,959,641 311,918 1,844,808

Compensations related to employment conditions 234,037 160,063 305,941

Recruitment and selection 76,395 19,647 31,779

Education and training 108,540 95,779 149,018

Other direct staff costs 374,337 183,379 361,052

Direct staff costs 2,752,950 770,786 2,692,598

Outplacement -13,331 - 2,386,891

Occupational health and safety service, prevention and safety 16,196 11,500 19,311

Other indirect staff costs 112,512 952,358 143,366

Indirect staff costs 115,377 963,858 2,549,568

Total staff costs 12,816,414 10,671,529 18,973,094

Less: settlement with projects and partners -792,258 -376,155 -1,010,892

Less: withdrawal provision reorganization - -242,023

Less: charged on to third parties -401,811 -535,680 -458,695

11,622,345 9,759,694 17,261,484

At the end of 2016 some 329 FTEs (2015: 382) were employed at ICCO of which 54 FTE in the Global Office in Utrecht (2015: 
66), 252 at the Regional Offices (2015: 289) and 23 at Fair & Sustainable Holding (2015: 27). In 2016, the average total staff-
ing amounted to 356 FTEs (2015: 374).

In 2016, the average cost per FTE for salaries, social charges and pensions was an amount of EUR 32.977 (in 2015: EUR 41.178).

Hiring personnel

The costs for hiring temporary workers are significantly higher than budgeted. This is a/o due to the fact that core staff in 
mostly regional offices more and more hired externally. As they are no longer on the ICCO payroll a corresponding is visible in 
other cost areas, such as salaries. 

Compensations related to employment conditions

This item contains compensation paid to employees as laid down in the employment conditions. This includes: commuting 
allowance, anniversary bonuses, relocation allowances, childcare, the company savings scheme and the fixed expense allow-
ance. Expenditure is in line with the budget. 

Outplacement

Costs of outplacement are presented in this table but partially charged to the provisions for reorganization, as stated in the 
line “withdrawal provision reorganization”. 
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Settlements with projects, partners and third parties

This item includes the costs transferred to Protestant Church, the Platform for Inclusive Finance (NPM), ICCO Terrafina 
Microfinance, IDH and others. It also includes the execution costs made regarding donor projects (such as EU, DGIS-funded) 
which are charged to these donors.

C3  Direct costs

Actual 2016 Budget 2016 Actual 2015

€

Travel- and accomodation expenses 1,614,333 741,329 2,273,359

External advisors 83,011 - 18,732

Other direct costs 749,933 324,159 914,566

2,447,277 1,065,488 3,206,657

Passed on to projects and partners 4,749 -35,701 -94,053

2,452,026 1,029,787 3,112,604

Travel and accommodation expenses 

Travel- and accommodation expenses have decreased due to decrease of the number of projects and the budgeted cost 
reduction.

C4  Housing costs

Actual 
2016

Budget 
2016

Actual 
2015

€

Housing costs 781,714 758,174 1,023,550

The actual housing expenses refer to the rented office spaces for the global office and those of the regional and country offices 
worldwide. 

C5  Office and general costs

Actual 2016 Budget 2016 Actual 2015

€

Office	costs 801,689 328,001 979,729

Costs of ICT 518,624 303,143 297,564

Audit and consultancy costs 678,952 263,279 534,270

Legal and organizational advice 1,479,479 333,647 1,852,225

Supervisory Board and Regional Councils 17,235 12,705 37,235

Partnerships 357,861 33,193 172,062

Other indirect costs -87,571 359,849 450,138

3,766,270 1,633,817 4,323,223

Passed on to projects and partners -239,954 -3,853 -295,910

3,526,316 1,629,964 4,027,313

Office costs

This item accounts for the costs of general printed matter, telephone, postal charges and other costs charged to ICCO by the 
Protestant Church Services Organization.

Audit and consultancy costs

The expenditure in 2016 is higher compared to the budget due to audit costs related to the 2015 audit and the ‘ICCO in 
Control’ project by PricewaterhouseCoopers.
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Deloitte auditors

Budget 
2016

Realization 
2016

Realization 
2015

€

Audit	of	the	financial	statements 169,000 243,000 287,375

Other audit engagements 20,570 49,620 51,957

Total 189,570 292,620 339,332

The above mentioned 2015 numbers are based on actual invoiced amounts. The 2016 numbers are based on actual invoiced 
amounts and the budgeted amount. The amounts spent on Deloitte only regards costs of audits.

Legal and organizational advice

The advice costs on a general level were the ‘ICCO in Control’ advice from  PriceWaterhouseCoopers (EUR 107,000), Fair 
& Sustainable Advisory Services (EUR 93,000), policy advice for ‘Getting Our Act Together’, GOAT (EUR 93,000) and the 
construction of Human Cities Coalition (EUR 90,000). In especially the West Africa office staff was hired on a consultancy 
basis which resulted in a total costs amount of EUR 887,000.

C6  Depreciation tangible fixed assets

Actual 
2016

Budget 
2016

Actual 
2015

€

Inventory and installations 17,877 14,052 22,729

Hardware and software - general 134,753 173,364 163,389

Hardware and software - ERP system 18,362 24,685 20,860

Company cars 16,231 12,101 22,057

187,223 224,202 229,035
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LEGAL STRUCTURE

Regional Offices Status Country offices Status Explanations

South East Asia 

Indonesia NGO registration Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

Myanmar expiry date: 31-10-2018 Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

Vietnam expiry date: 31-10-2020 Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

South Asia

Nepal NGO registration Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

India ICCo (India), a local Trust ICCO Foundation full owner

India Innovative Change Collaborative Services Private 
Limited (ICCSPL), a Section 25 Company (not for 
profit	company):	ICCO	Group	B.V.	99,90	owner

India Fair and Sustainable Support Foundation (a 
company limited by shares)

Bangladesh Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

Central Asia 

Kyrgystan NGO registration Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

West Africa 

Mali NGO registration Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

Burkina Faso NGO-registration since 13 Oct. 2016 Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

Senegal NGO-registration since 22 Dec. 2016

Central, Eastern and Southern Africa

Uganda NGO registration Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

Ethiopia NGO-registration Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

South Sudan NGO-registration Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

Rwanda NGO-registration Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

DRC (Congo) NGO-registration Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

Burundi NGO-registration Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

South Africa Registered  Non 
Profit	Company

under the control of ICCO Foundation

Madagascar NGO-registration Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

Malawi NGO-registration Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

Zimbabwe Local Trust Under control of ICCO Foundation

Latin America 

Nicaragua NGO registration Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

Bolivia NGO registration Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

Peru NGO-registration Under articles of association of ICCO Foundation

Brazil NGO-registration Under articles of association of Stichting ICCO

Colombia NGO-registration Under articles of association of Stichting ICCO

Paraguay NGO-registration Under articles of association of Stichting ICCO

Middle East

Autority of Palestine NGO-registration 
since 17-12-2015

Under articles of association of Stichting ICCO

USA
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REMUNERATION EXECUTIVE BOARD AND 
SUPERVISORY BOARD

In 2016, the organization was managed by an Executive 
Board consisting of two directors, a chairman and a member. 
The Supervisory Board considers the employment conditions 
of the Executive Board to be in accordance with the ICCO 
policy on remuneration of the Executive Board. Furthermore 
the remuneration meets the requirements of the Dutch 
Ministry of Foreign affairs for assignment of MFSII grants and 
comply with the Wet Normering Topbestuurders (WNT). 

Name
Position

Marinus Verweij
Chair

Wim Hart
Member

Employment Conditions €

Nature Definite Definite

Number of hours 36 32

Part-time percentage 100 89

Period 1/1-31/12 1/1-31/12

Remuneration €

Gross wages  131,181  115,348 

Taxable reimbursements  4,537  3,481 

Pension charges (employer part)  12,531  11,143 

Remuneration WNT  148,249  129,971 

Benefits	regarding	termination	of	
contract

 -    -   

Total WNT  148,249  129,971 

Social charges  9,450  9,450 

Total remuneration 2016  157,699  139,421 

Total remuneration 2015  158,097  140,328 

The total WNT remuneration of the chair of the Executive 
Board and the member of the Executive Board are within 
the maximum norm of gross wages including taxable 
reimbursements and pension charges of respectively EUR 
168,000 and EUR 149,000 (adjusted for part-time %).

The remunerations of the chair of the Supervisory Board 
and the chair of the audit committee amount to EUR 3,000, 
and that of the other members of the Supervisory Board is 
EUR 1,500. The functions, tasks and ancillary positions are 
reported in chapter 4 of this Report.

As per December 31st 2016 there are no loans, advances or 
guarantees provided to the members of the Executive and 
Supervisory Boards.
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J.F. de Leeuw 0 3,000 Chairman Supervisory Board 1/1-31/12

G. van Dijk 0 3,000 Member Supervisory 
Board and Chairman Audit 
Commission

1/1-31/12

W. Oosterom 0 1,500 Member Supervisory Board 
and Audit Commission

1/1-31/12

R. Powell Mandjes 0 1,500 Member Supervisory Board 1/1-31/12

A. Knigge 0 0 Member Supervisory Board 26/5-31/12

A. de Gaay Fortman 0 0 Member Supervisory Board 1/1-31/12

 
PROPOSED APPROPRIATION OF RESULT FOR 
THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2016
The Executive Board proposes, with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, that the result for the financial year 2016 
amounting EUR 2,090,115 should be appropriated as follows:

Appropriation of net result

Transferred to/from: €

Continuity reserve -705,288

Appropriation reserve -64,383

  Matching fund donor programs 3,468,510

  Fund future proof programming 1,370,410

  Fund Kerk in Actie themes 168,130

Appropriation fund projects -4,069,807

Appropriation fund guarantees -660,402

Appropriation fund loans and participations 2,940,509

Appropriation fund MFS interest -357,564

 Result 2,090,115

This proposal has been included in the financial statements.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There are no subsequent events that have impact on this 
report.

Utrecht, October 2017

Executive Board  Supervisory Board

M. Verweij, chairman  J.F. de Leeuw, chairman

W.D. Hart  G. van Dijk

    W. Oosterom

    R. Powell Mandjes

    A. Knigge
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Other Information
APPROPRIATION OF RESULT ACCORDING TO 
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
According to article 21 of its Statute Foundation ICCO is not 
allowed to pay any result to its members.

COMPANIES
Reference is made to the list of companies on page 69.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Board of foundation ICCO (Stichting Interkerkelijke 
Organisatie voor Ontwikkelingssamenwerking)

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
2016 INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

Our Opinion

We have audited the financial statements 2016 of ICCO 
Foundation, based in Utrecht.
In our opinion the financial statements included in these 
annual accounts give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of ICCO Foundation as at December 31, 2016, 
and of its result for 2016 in accordance with the Dutch 
Accounting Standard 650 “Fundraising organizations”.

The financial statements comprise:
• The balance sheet as at December 31, 2016.
• The statement of income and expenditure for 2016.
• The notes comprising a summary of the accounting poli-

cies and other explanatory information.

Moreover we are of the opinion that in all material aspects 
the 2016 financial statements comply with the WNT 
requirements regarding financial regularity, as laid down in 
the WNT Audit Protocol of the “Beleidsregels toepassing Wet 
normering bezoldiging topfunctionarissen publieke en semi-
publieke sector (WNT)”.

Basis for our opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, 
including the Dutch Standards on Auditing.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the “Our responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements” section of our report.

We are independent of ICCO Foundation in accordance with 
the “Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants 
bij assurance-opdrachten (ViO)” and other relevant independ-
ence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore we have 
complied with the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels 

accountants (VGBA) and the “Beleidsregels toepassing Wet 
normering bezoldiging topfunctionarissen publieke en semi-
publieke sector (WNT)”, including the audit protocol WNT.
We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

REPORT ON THE OTHER INFORMATION 
INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report, the annual accounts contain other information that 
consists of:
• Management Board’s Report
• Other Information as required by the Dutch Accounting 

Standard 650 “Fundraising organizations”

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude 
that the other information:
• Is consistent with the financial statements and does not 

contain material misstatements.
• Contains the information as required by the Dutch 

Accounting Standard 650 “Fundraising organizations”.

We have read the other information. Based on our knowl-
edge and understanding obtained through our audit of 
the financial statements or otherwise, we have consid-
ered whether the other information contains material 
misstatements.
By performing these procedures, we comply with the 
requirements of the Dutch Accounting Standard 650 
“Fundraising organizations” and the Dutch Standard 720. 
The scope of the procedures performed is substantially less 
than the scope of those performed in our audit of the finan-
cial statements.
Management is responsible for the preparation of other 
information, the Management Board’s Report in and the 
other information as required by the Dutch Accounting 
Standard 650 “Fundraising organizations”.

DESCRIPTION OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Responsibilities of the Executive Board for the financial 

statements

The Executive Board is responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the Dutch Accounting Standard 650 “Fundraising 
organizations” and the “Beleidsregels toepassing Wet 
normering bezoldiging topfunctionarissen publieke en semi-
publieke sector (WNT)”, including the audit protocol WNT. 
The Executive Board is likewise responsible for preparing 
the financial statements in compliance with the WNT 
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requirements regarding financial regularity as laid down in 
the WNT Audit Protocol of the “Beleidsregels toepassing Wet 
normering bezoldiging topfunctionarissen publieke en semi-
publieke sector (WNT)”.
Furthermore, the Executive Board is responsible for such 
internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the 
Executive Board is responsible for assessing the entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the finan-
cial reporting framework mentioned, the Executive Board 
should prepare the financial statements using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Executive Board 
either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Executive Board should disclose events and circum-
stances that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern in the financial statements.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the 
entity’s financial reporting process.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in 
a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate 
audit evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, 
level of assurance, which means we may not have detected 
all material errors and fraud.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are consid-
ered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our 
audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identi-
fied misstatements on our opinion.

We have exercised professional judgment and have main-
tained professional skepticism throughout the audit, in 
accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical 
requirements and independence requirements. Our audit 
included e.g.:

• Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
designing and performing audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the enti-
ty’s internal control.

• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

• Concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast signif-
icant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report.

• However, future events or conditions may cause the entity 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures.

• Evaluating whether the financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we 
are also responsible for directing, supervising and perform-
ing the group audit. In this respect we have determined the 
nature and extent of the audit procedures to be carried out 
for group entities. Decisive were the size and/or the risk 
profile of the group entities or operations. On this basis, we 
selected group entities for which an audit or review had to 
be carried out on the complete set of financial information 
or specific items.

We communicate with the Supervisory Board regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
findings in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We provide the Supervisory Board with a statement that we 
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relation-
ships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.

Amsterdam, 1 November 2017

Signed on the original 

Deloitte Accountants B.V.

M.G.W. Quaedvlieg
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Appendices

SMARTSeeds / G4AW is a public-private 

partnership to reach 100,000 Indonesian 

smallholder producers to help increase 

farm productivitiy using satellite data.

Photo: ICCO 
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APPENDIX I

Project list

Central, Eastern and Southern Africa
Burundi Microfinance,	Agri-finance	and	Value	Chains	(MAVC) 

Ethiopia
Capacity Development Services for Rural Financial Services 
Providers



Ethiopia Common Sense 

Ethiopia Food Security and Rural Entrepreneurship  (FSRE) Fund 

Ethiopia Innovative Business Model 

Ethiopia Microfinance	Advise 

Ethiopia Rural Development Programme 

Ethiopia Solarkiosk Ethiopia 

Madagascar ASARA FIANTSO (REEL) 

Madagascar
Organisation	de	la	Société	civile	Efficace	et	Responsable	(OSER	
FIANTSO)



Malawi
Rural Livelihoods Economic Enhancement Programme (RLEEP) Soya 
Profitability	Project	2



Rwanda Patient Procurement Platform 

Rwanda and Ethiopia Strengthening African Rural Smallholders (STARS)  

South Africa IAM Transformation Network 

South Africa Barley Emerging Farmers Economic Development Program  

Sudan Women Leadership Programme (UNSCR 1325) 

Uganda AgriSkills4You  

Uganda Crossroads 

Uganda Towards an AIDS Free Generation – Preventing MTCT 

Uganda Community Investment for Sustainable Access to HIV Services 

Uganda HIV and Livelihoods 

Uganda and Kenya Flying Food  

Zimbabwe Towards Child Labour Free Zones 

West Africa

Benin and Mali Strategic partnership   

Burkina Faso PROSANUT   

Burkina Faso and Senegal Strengthening African Rural Smallholders (STARS)  

Ghana Commercial Alliance for Smallholder Horticulture (CASH)  

Ghana Children at Risk   

Mali Addressing	the	Root	Causes	of	Conflict 

Mali Child Labor Free Zones 

Mali
Program for Strengthening Agricultural Value-Chains to Improve 
Food Security (Jege ni Jaba)

Mali Stop Aids Now 

Mali Public Private Partnership for Shea Value Chain Development  

Mali Public Private Partnership on Beeswax  

Mali Public Private Partnership on Shea, Moringa, and Sesame  
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South and Central Asia

Bangladesh Profitable	Opportunities	for	Food	Security	(PROOFS)  

Bangladesh Geodata for Agriculture and Water (G4AW) 

Bangladesh Security Market Access Rights and Transparency (SMART) 

Bangladesh Saline Tolerant Agriculture 

Bangladesh Improving Food Security & Reducing CO2 Emission through Biochar 

Bangladesh Resilient Livelihood to Coastal Disaster Affected Ccommunity 

Bangadesh Comprehensive Development Program 

Bangladesh Agribusiness Booster - DAI 

India Local Market Development 

India Centre of Excellence for Agri-Business and Allied Enterprises 

India Developing Value Chains in North East 

India Advocacy Awareness Action Program 

India Child Right Education and Advocacy (CREA) 

India Enhancing the Rights of Migrant Children Child Labourers 

India Promoting Child LabourFree Zone Chandampet Mandal Nalgond 

India Child Labour Free Zones 

Kyrgyzstan Central Asia on the Move II 

Kyrgyzstan Parents-leaders in Building an Inclusive Society 

Nepal Recovery Program  

Nepal Recovering Livelihoods and Empowering Communities (RLEC) 

Nepal Nepal Early Recovery and Rehabilitation Project (NERRP) 

Nepal
Shelter Support to the Earthquake Affected Communities of Nepal 
(SEACON)



Nepal
Promotion of Sustainable Use of Natural Resources for Local 
Development (Pro-LED)



Nepal Mugu Integrated Livelihoods Project (MiLIP) 

South Asia Fair Climate Program 

Tajikistan Inclusive Community for All 

Tajikistan
Empowerment and Parents Leadership towards Inclusive Ssociety for 
Children with Disabilities



Tajikistan Central Asia on the Move 

South East Asia

Cambodia Investing Smallholder Producer Groups Accessing Markets (ISPAM) 

Cambodia
Sustainable and Inclusive Fisheries and Livelihoods on the Great Lake 
(SIFAL) 

 

Cambodia Promoting Safe Vegetable Production for the Market 

Cambodia Establishing Indigenous Peoples’ Associations in Ratanakiri 

Cambodia Community Bank Development for Indigenous People (CANDO) 

Cambodia Educating and Protecting Cambodia’s Most Vulnerable Children 

Cambodia Good Way for Early Childhood 

Cambodia Youth Resource Development Program 

Indonesia Production and Marketing of High Premium Rice 

Indonesia Geodata for Agriculture and Water (G4AW) SMARTseeds  

Indonesia
Advancing Sustainable Business and Ancestral Land Recognition 
(ASBALR PACT) 



Indonesia Empowering Smallholders for Organic Nutmeg 

Indonesia Fair Food in Indonesia FSSC, 

Indonesia
Protecting Children from Violence at School and in the Community 
(Phase 2)



Indonesia Empowering Street Children 2016 - 2018 

FSSC EE RB ER Other
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Myanmar
Climate	Change	Mitigation	Policies	Land	Grabbing	and	Conflict	
(MOSAIC)



Myanmar
Reducing Economic Vulnerability by Enhancing Alternative 
Livelihoods - Phase 4 (REVEAL)



Myanmar Better Prospects for Displaced Children 

Myanmar Cooperation of Livelihoods in Agricultural Business Project (CLAP)  

Myanmar Strengthening Civil Society’s Role in Peace 

Myanmar BABYBright Healthy Babies for a Bright Future 

Myanmar Building	Resilience	of	Conflict	Affected	and	Displaced	People	  

Myanmar
Improved Livelihood Opportunities Through Sustainable Agriculture 
Trainings Project

 

Myanmar Story of Friendship 

Vietnam Geodata for Agriculture and Water (G4AW) GREENcoffee  

Latin America FSSC EE RB ER Other

Bolivia COBOCE Social Responsibility and Entrepreneurship  

Bolivia and Colombia Manq’a   

Bolivia and Brazil Organic herbal teas, Amaranth, Cotton 

Bolivia, Guatamala, 
Honduras, Nicaragua, El 
Salvador

People and Forest  

Central America Building protection by empowering people 

Colombia Fair Climate Program Colombia REDD+ 

Colombia, Bolivia, Paraguay, 
Brazil

Land Movement 

Colombia and Central 
America

Children at Risk 

Haïti Matthew Hurricane Emergency Response 

Latin America
Combating Commercial Sexual Exploitation in Latin America  
(Down to Zero)



Middle East

Israel and OPT Small and Medium Enterprise Development 

Global

Strategic Partnership Lobby and Advocacy   

Disaster Relief Alliance 

EU Aid Volunteers 

FSSC EE RB ER Other
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ACT Alliance

ICCO is member of international networks of faith-based 

organizations such as ACT Alliance EU, the global ACT 

Alliance and the World Council of Churches. Through these 

networks ICCO has also access to EU and UN bodies. We 

do joint fundraising, e.g. on humanitarian relief, and we 

strengthen and scale up our own advocacy efforts through 

joint actions and campaigns. In 2016 we especially worked 

together on themes related to the Strategic Partnership 

program with the Dutch government. Both the ACT Alliance 

EU as the global ACT Alliance share with us the importance to 

put space for civil society organizations high on the agenda.  

 

 

Civic Engagement Alliance

ICCO is lead applicant of the Civic Engagement Alliance 

under the ‘Strategic Partnership on Lobby and Advocacy’ 

program (2016 - 2020), funded by the Dutch government. 

Other members of the alliance are Edukans, Kerk in Actie, 

Wilde Ganzen, CNV Internationaal and Prisma-members. 

The program is implemented in 12 countries. Budgets are 

partly managed by the members and partly by the regional 

offices	of	ICCO.	Read	more	about	the	Strategic	Partnership	

in chapter 2. The alliance reports to the Dutch government in 

a separate annual report. 

 

 

 

AgriProFocus

ICCO is member of AgriProFocus, 

an international multi-stakeholder 

network in the agri-food sector 

consisting of farmer entrepreneurs, 

private sector enterprises, govern-

ments, knowledge institutions and civil society organiza-

tions. We play an active role in the ‘Working Group on Food 

Security Policy’ and are member of the board.  ICCO hosts the 

AgriProFocus networks in Mali, Rwanda and Burundi.  And 

we managed on behalf of AgriProFocus the Food Security and 

Enterprise (FSRE) Innovation Fund (2012 - 2016). 

National Postcode Lottery

In 2016 ICCO received a contribution of EUR 1,350,000 from 

the National Postcode Lottery, derived from the Lottery’s 

proceeds from 2015. The Postcode Lottery raises funds for 

good causes working on a fairer and greener world. Of each 

ticket the lottery sells, 50% goes to 99 charity organizations 

including	ICCO,	who	has	been	a	beneficiary	since	2008.		In	

addition to their long term 

institutional support, the 

Lottery also provides support 

to	specific	projects.	With	

their contribution to Buen 

Apetito (Bolivia), the Lottery 

has made the start of the 

Manq’a movement possible. 

Akvo

ICCO cooperates for a number of years with Akvo, a not-for-

profit	foundation	that	creates	open	source,	internet	and	

mobile software and sensors. In 2016 we made intensive use 

of Akvo Flow. Flow allows for data gathering by using mobile 

devices, was piloted in 2012 in Indonesia and is now used in 

most of our program countries. In addition, a trajectory has 

been set up to better understand and analyze data gathered 

through Flow. This mainly involves food and income data. 

Finally our website has been linked to Akvo’s Really Simple 

Reporting system.  

 

 

SCOPEinsight

In 2016, ICCO Cooperation took a minority share in 

SCOPEinsight, together with the social impact investment 

facility of ABN AMRO. SCOPEinsight provides innovative 

assessment	tools	that	define	farmer	professionalism	and	

make this measurable and actionable. With this strategic 

acquisition we strengthen our services portfolio geared 

towards improving the position of small scale farmers in 
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value chains and boosting entrepre-

neurship of producer organizations. 

ICCO was also one of the leading 

forces, together with SCOPEinsight 

and IFC, behind founding AMEA 

(Agribusiness Market Ecosystem 

Alliance), a multi stakeholder plat-

form where professional farmers have access to markets, 

finance,	training	and	inputs	at	scale.

EUCORD

In the fall of 2016, ICCO joined EUCORD (European 

Cooperative for Rural Development), headquartered in 

Brussels.  EUCORD specializes on  the development and 

management of agricultural value chains through public-pri-

vate partnerships. Linking farmers and their organizations 

to private sector demand gives them guaranteed markets. 

In 2017, the focus of the acquisition in EUCORD will be on 

integrating value propositions and leveraging networks and 

strategic partnerships. 

 

 

 

 

MasterCard Foundation

ICCO partners with MasterCard 

Foundation, the donor of the STARS 

(Strengthening African Rural 

Smallholders) program in Rwanda, 

Ethiopia, Senegal and Burkina Faso. 

The program was launched in 2016 and implemented by 

ICCO,	together	with	ICCO	Terrafina	Microfinance.	STARS	

aims to broaden the evidence base in rural agriculture 

finance,	value	chain	development	and	share	the	lessons	

learned. The main achievements of 2016 include:

-  Set up the program, bring a team together and introduce 

the program to different governments, organizations and 

partners

-  Conduct 8 gender sensitive value chain analyses and 19 

micro-scores	for	the	microfinance	institutions	we	will	

work; SCOPEinsight assessments in the 4 implementing 

countries. 

AH Foundation

Since setting up the Foundation 10 years ago, supermarket 

Albert Heijn requests ICCO to do the assessment of project 

proposals and bring them to the board for decision making, 

including their advice. After approval ICCO is responsible 

for the contracting, fund transfer and monitoring of the 

implementation and gives strategic advice where needed. 

The Foundation invests in 7 African countries in the areas of 

housing, education and health. In 2016, an impact measuring 

pilot started to monitor struc-

tural changes of the projects. 

One example is the construc-

tion of public toilets in villages 

in Ghana. As a result, cholera 

was banned, school absentee-

ism drastically reduced and 

school results improved.

Dutch Relief Alliance

The Dutch Relief Alliance (DRA) responds to major 

international crises in a timely and effective manner. The 

Alliance is a cooperation of 14 Dutch NGOs, funded by the 

Ministry of Foreign Affairs for over EUR 50 million in 2016. 

In 2016 ICCO was (with Kerk in Actie) chair of DRA. We 

received	financial	contributions	of	almost	EUR	4	million	for	

emergency programs in South Sudan, Nigeria, Iraq, Syria 

and surroundings, Ethiopia, Central African Republic and 

Zimbabwe. With DRA ICCO can respond to disasters that 

are not always in the limelight.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

European Union

ICCO has a long track record with the European Union. 

In 2016 a 15-months capacity building program started 

together with 9 other ACT Alliance partners and with 

support of three European universities. The aim is to train 64 

local organizations from 8 countries in emergency prepared-

ness and disaster risk reduction. The project is co-funded by 

the European Union for the ‘EU Aid Volunteers (ECHO) initi-

ative’.  38 volunteers will strengthen capacities of the local 

organizations through online and in-country trainings.  
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1 	 Global	office	Utrecht

2  Central America

3  South America

4  West Africa

5  Bangladesh

6  Central Asia

7  India

8  Nepal

9  Central East & South Africa

10  South East Asia

1

2

3

4

APPENDIX III

Overview of teams* and offices

* not alle employees are in the pictures

Managua, Nicaragua

Washington D.C., U.S.A.

La Paz, Bolivia

Ascunción, Paraguay

Bogotá, Colombia

Dakar, 
Senegal
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5

6

7

8

9 10

Yangoon, Myanmar

Kathmandu, Nepal

New Delhi, India

Ouagadougou, 
Burkina Faso

Kampala, UgandaKigali, Rwanda
Bujumbura, Burundi

Juba, South Sudan

Amman, Jordan

Harare, Zimbabwe

Pretoria, South Africa

Antananarivo,
Madagascar

Lilongwe, Malawi

Addis Abeba, Ethiopia

Dakar, 
Senegal

Bamako, Mali

Bishkek, Kyrgystan

Dhaka, Bangladesh

Utrecht, The Netherlands

Phnom Penh, Cambodia

Denpasar, Indonesia
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ACT Alliance Action by Churches Together Alliance

AMEA  Agribusiness Market Ecosystem Alliance

C4D Capital 4 Development Fund

CBF Centraal Bureau Fondsenwerving

CSR Corporate Social Responsibility

DfID UK Department for International 

Development

DGIS Directorates General International 

Cooperation of the Ministry of Foreign 

Affairs of The Netherlands

DRA Dutch Relief Alliance

ECHO Humanitarian Aid and Civil Protection of 

the European Commission  

ERP Enterprise Resource Planning (system)

ERPA Emission Reduction Purchase Agreement 

EU European Union

FDOV Facility for Sustainable Entrepreneurship 

and Food Security of the Netherlands 

Enterprise Agency

FSAS Fair & Sustainable Advisory Services

HFIAS  Household Food Insecurity Access Scale

IATI International Aid Transparency Initiative

IDH Sustainable Traid Initiative

ISO International Organization for 

Standardization

M&A Management & Administration

M4P Making Markets Work for the Poor 

MFI Micro Finance Institution

MFSII Dutch Government Development 

Cooperation	Co-finance	Scheme	 

(2011 – 2015) 

NGO Non-Governmental Organization

PMEL Planning, Monitoring, Evaluation and 

Learning

ProMEva Program Monitoring and Evaluation tool

PROOFS		 Profitable	Opportunities	for	Food	Security

RVO Netherlands Enterprise Agency

SAN Stop Aids Now

SDG Sustainable Development Goal

SMEs Small and Medium Enterprises

USAID United States Agency for International 

Development

WASH Water, Sanitation and Hygiene
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ICCO
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 facebook.com/iccopage

 twitter.com/iccotweet

 youtube.com/iccocooperation
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ICCO Foundation: KVK 56484038

In 2016 we received funds from, among others: 
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